Human Development Network

Health, Nutrition, and Population Series



Reproductive Health in the Middle East and North Africa

Well-Being for All

Atsuko Aoyama



The World Bank

Health, Nutrition, and Population Series

This series is produced by the Health, Nutrition, and Population Family (HNP) of the World Bank's Human Development Network. The series aims to provide a vehicle for publishing material on the Bank's work in the HNP sector, to consolidate the various previous publications in the sector, and to improve the standard for quality control, peer review, and dissemination of HNP publications.

The series focuses on publications that expand our knowledge of HNP policy and strategy issues through thematic reviews, analytical work, case studies, and examples of best practices. The volumes in the series focus on material of global and regional relevance.

The broad strategic themes of the series are proposed by its editorial committee. The Editor in Chief of the series is Alexander S. Preker. The other members of this committee are Mukesh Chawla, A. Edward Elmendorf, Mariam Claeson, Armin H. Fidler, Charles C. Griffin, Peter F. Heywood, Prabhat K. Jha, Gerard Martin La Forgia, Jack Langenbrunner, Maureen A. Lewis, Samuel S. Lieberman, Benjamin Loevinsohn, Milla Mclachlan, Judith Snavely Mcguire, Akiko Maeda, Thomas W. Merrick, Philip Musgrove, David H. Peters, Oscar Picazo and George Schieber.

Human Development Network

Health, Nutrition, and Population Series

Reproductive Health in the Middle East and North Africa

Well-Being for All

Atsuko Aoyama



The World Bank

Copyright © 2001 The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433, USA

All rights reserved Manufactured in the United States of America First printing May 2001

The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this book are entirely those of the authors and should not be attributed in any manner to the World Bank, to its affiliated organizations, or to members of its Board of Executive Directors or the countries they represent. The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this publication and accepts no responsibility for any consequence of their use. The boundaries, colors, denominations, and other information shown on any map in this volume do not imply on the part of the World Bank Group any judgment on the legal status of any territory or the endorsement or acceptance of such boundaries.

The material in this publication is copyrighted. The World Bank encourages dissemination of its work and will normally grant permission to reproduce portions of the work promptly.

Permission to photocopy items for internal or personal use, for the internal or personal use of specific clients, or for educational classroom use is granted by the World Bank, provided that the appropriate fee is paid directly to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA; telephone 978-750-8400, fax 978-750-4470. Please contact the Copyright Clearance Center before photocopying items.

For permission to reprint individual articles or chapters, please fax a request with complete information to the Republication Department, Copyright Clearance Center, fax 978-750-4470.

All other queries on rights and licenses should be addressed to the Office of the Publisher, World Bank, at the address above or faxed to 202-522-2422.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Aoyama, Atsuko, 1954-

Well-being for all beyond generations : a reproductive health review of the Middle East and North Africa region / Atsuko Aoyama.

p. cm — (Health, nutrition, and population series)

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 0-8213-4920-1

 Reproductive health—Middle East. 2. Reproductive health—Africa, North.
 Maternal health services—Middle East. 4. Maternal health services—Africa, North.
 Women—Health and hygiene—Middle East. 6. Women—Health and hygiene— Africa, North. I. Title. II. Series.

RG103 . A665 2001 362.1'982'00956—dc21



Contents

Fo	preword	ix
Ał	ostract	xi
Ac	knowledgments	xiii
Ac	cronyms and Abbreviations	XV
Ех	ecutive Summary	xvii
	Reproductive Health in the MENA Region	xviii
	Improving Reproductive Health	xxi
	Possible Roles of the World Bank	xxiii
	For the Well-Being of Future Generations	xxiv
1	Introduction	1
	Reproductive Health and Rights	1
	Global Perspectives on Reproductive Health	3
	Objectives of the Review	6
2	Reproductive Health Status in MENA Countries	9
	Overview of the Health Situation	9
	Maternal Health	14
	Fertility and Family Planning	35
	Sexually Transmitted Infections and	
	Reproductive Tract Infections	57
	Adolescent Health	63
	Nutrition	70

	Other Reproductive Health Issues	75
	Gender and Marriage	78
	Correlation with Socioeconomic Factors	84
3	Improving Reproductive Health in	
	MENA Countries	101
	Priority Issues and Obstacles	101
	Strategies and Possible Interventions	104
4	Conclusion	117
Aŗ	opendix: Reproductive Health Terms	
-	and Indicators	119
N	otes	127
Re	eferences	129

Tables

0
3
6
8
1
7
2
3
5
4
-5
6
1

14	Legal Age and Median Age of Marriage	64
15	Female Genital Cutting	68
16	Breastfeeding Patterns	72
17	Anemia and Iodine Deficiency Disorders	73
18	Obesity Prevalence	74
19	Breast, Uterine, and Ovarian Cancer Incidence	75
20	Prevalence of Hereditary Diseases in	
	MENA Countries	80
21	Major Reproductive Health Issues in	
	MENA Countries	102
22	Possible Intervention Components	108
23	Program Evaluations: Examples in MENA	
	Countries	110
24	Mother-Baby Package: Summary of Intervention	
	Costs	112
25	Projected Costs and Savings of Family Planning	
	Program in Egypt	113

Figures

1	Reproductive Health, Maternal and Child Health,	
	and Family Planning	3
2	Maternal Mortality Ratios in MENA Countries	15
3	Decline in Maternal Mortality Ratios	17
4	Causes of Maternal Death in Egypt, 1992–93	19
5	Coverage of Prenatal Care and Maternal	
	Mortality Ratio in MENA Countries	20
6	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants and	
	Maternal Mortality Ratio in MENA Countries	22
7	Trend of Maternal Care Coverage in Egypt	24
8	Lower Prenatal Care Coverage in Rural Areas	25
9	Fewer Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants	
	in Rural Areas	26
10	Urban-Rural Gap in Deliveries Assisted by	
	Skilled Attendants and Maternal Mortality	
	Ratio in MENA Countries	28

11	Reproductive Morbidity in Rural Egypt	30
12	Incidence and Mortality of Unsafe Abortion	31
13	Total Fertility Rates	36
14	Fertility Decline in Low-Income and Lower-	
	Middle-Income MENA Countries	38
15	Fertility Decline in Upper-Middle-Income	
	and High-Income MENA Countries	39
16	Contraceptive Prevalence Rates	43
17	Prevalence of Sexually Transmitted Infections	58
18	Syphilis Prevalence, 1995	59
19	Reported AIDS Cases	60
20	Women Married before Age 20	65
21	Adolescent Fertility Rates, 1995	66
22	Attitudes toward Female Genital Cutting	
	in Egypt	69
23	Consanguineous Marriage	79
24	Polygamy by Age	81
25	Polygamy by Education Level	82
26	Maternal Mortality Ratio and GNP Per Capita	
	in MENA Countries	85
27	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants and	
	GNP Per Capita in MENA Countries	86
28	Urban-Rural Gap in Deliveries Assisted	
	by Skilled Attendants and GNP Per Capita	
	in MENA Countries	87
29	Total Fertility Rate and GNP Per Capita in	
	MENA Countries	88
30	Maternal Mortality Ratio and Health	
	Expenditure Per Capita in MENA Countries	89
31	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants	
	and Health Expenditure Per Capita in MENA	
	Countries	90
32	Total Fertility Rate and Health Expenditure	
	Per Capita in MENA Countries	91
33	Maternal Mortality Ratio and Female	

	Secondary School Enrollment Rate in	
	MENA Countries	92
34	Maternal Mortality Ratio and Male-Female	
	Gap in Secondary School Enrollment Rate	
	in MENA Countries	93
35	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants	
	and Female Secondary School Enrollment	
	Rate in MENA Countries	94
36	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants	
	and Male-Female Gap in Secondary School	
	Enrollment Rate in MENA Countries	95
37	Total Fertility Rate and Female Secondary	
	School Enrollment Rate in MENA Countries	96
38	Total Fertility Rate and Male-Female Gap in	
	Secondary School Enrollment Rate	97
39	Maternal Mortality Ratio and Women's Share	
	of Household Income in MENA Countries	98
40	Deliveries Assisted by Skilled Attendants and	
	Women's Share of Household Income in	
	MENA Countries	99
41	Total Fertility Rate and Women's Share of	
	Household Income in MENA Countries	100

Boxes

1	Bongaarts-Potter Model	55
2	Infection Prevention Practices in Clinical	
	Settings	62
3	Reaching Out to Bedouin Women through	
	Innovative Partnership in Jordan	106



Foreword

The countries of the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region face unprecedented challenges to promoting social and economic development in this rapidly changing and competitive world. Governments in the region are struggling to sustain the improvements in the quality of life of their citizens that they have worked hard to bring about. Each government tries to achieve equity in terms of the basic needs of all citizens, and to guarantee the rights of each individual, while respecting the cultural values of the people and preserving the unity and integrity of the country.

Good health is a basic human right, as well as a prerequisite of social and economic development. In many countries and cultures, women are not allowed to participate fully in the decisionmaking processes that directly affect their health status. Because women play major roles in raising children and caring for family members, deaths and ill health among women affect the health and well-being of the family as a whole, and consequently of the entire population.

In the MENA region, despite achievements in the population and health sectors during the last three decades, several reproductive health issues remain, while new issues have emerged. High rates of maternal mortality are found in a few countries in the region. Contrary to the global experience, fertility rates in MENA countries have not necessarily decreased as income and women's educational levels have risen. Even in the countries that have committed to population programs, the pace of fertility decline is now slowing. Although relatively few people have died of AIDS in the region, the death toll from the disease has increased almost sixfold since the early 1990s.

x • Reproductive Health in the Middle East and North Africa

Reproductive health is a relatively new concept, and this paper constitutes the World Bank's first comprehensive overview of reproductive health issues in the MENA region. It will be an essential tool for those who are to design, implement, and monitor programs for improving reproductive health in the region. It is also intended to help stimulate discussions among various stakeholders in MENA countries in the context of economic and social development efforts. The results, I hope, will be effective strategies and policies that contribute to achieving well-being for future generations.

> Jacques Baudouy Sector Director Human Development Group Middle East and North Africa Region



Abstract

This reproductive health review of the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region provides an overview of the issues and establishes a base of knowledge upon which a strategy could be constructed. Despite achievements in the population and health sectors during the last three decades, several reproductive health issues remain, while new challenges have emerged. Major reproductive health issues in the region include high maternal mortality, particularly in Yemen, Morocco, Egypt, and Iraq; high fertility and slowing fertility decline; early marriage and high teenage fertility; the increasing prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and HIV/AIDS; and female genital cutting in Egypt and Yemen.

There is a correlation between reproductive health issues, a country's level of social development, and the size of gaps within a country: between men and women, urban and rural, rich and poor. Therefore, it is necessary to plan and implement programs targeted to specific issues and underprivileged groups; develop effective and sustainable health systems with high-quality services; raise awareness and change behaviors of both the public and policymakers; and empower women. Strong political commitment is essential to overcoming social and cultural constraints. Possible intervention components and possible roles of the World Bank are suggested.



Acknowledgments

This review paper was prepared by Atsuko Aoyama, Health Specialist, Human Development Group, Middle East and North Africa Region (MNSHD), as part of regional Health, Nutrition, and Population (HNP) knowledge management programs. Barbara Jones, Consultant, contributed to the section on fertility and family planning and provided overall technical advice. Yoko Nishimura and Emi Suzuki contributed to data research and analyses. Jacques Baudouy, Sector Director, and George Schieber, Health Sector Manager, MNSHD, provided overall supervision and guidance. Maria Garcia provided administrative assistance and Sean Card and Christine Waldo assisted with editing.

We appreciate and acknowledge the following specialists and organizations for providing essential regional data and information, technical advice, and valuable comments:

- The World Bank, Washington, D.C.: MNSHD Health Team, Gail Richardson, Akiko Maeda, Nicole Klingen; Population and Reproductive Health Thematic Group, HNP Network, Thomas Merrick, Shaha Riza, Jerker Liljestrand.
- WHO, Geneva: Division of Family and Reproductive Health, Department of Reproductive Health and Research, Health Systems and Community Health.
- WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean, Alexandria: Ghada Al Hafez, Bijan Sadrizadeh, Purushottam N. Shrestha, Mirvat Abou Shabanah.

- UNAIDS, Alexandria: Jihane Tawilah.
- UNFPA Country Support Team for Arab States and Europe: Atef M. Khalifa, Hussein Abdel-Aziz Sayed, Abdul-Halim Joukhadar, Ziad Rifai, Arif M. Farazi.
- UNICEF Regional Office for the Middle East and North Africa: Ibrahima D. Fall, Saad Y. Houry, Ahmed Magan.
- Pan Arab Project for Child Development (PAPCHILD): Ahmed Abdel Monem.
- Pan Arab Project for Family Health (PAPFAM): Samir M. Farid.
- League of Arab States: Louhichi Khaled.
- The Population Council, West Asia and North Africa, Cairo: Nahla Abdel-Tawab.
- USAID Center for Population, Health, and Nutrition, Washington, D.C.: Miriam H. Labbok, Robert C. Emrey, Samuel G. Kahn, David L. Piet, Lisa Childs.
- USAID, Cairo: Richard R. Martin, Leslie Perry.
- USAID, Sana'a: Fawzia Youssef, Abdulali A. Alshami.
- The Ford Foundation, Cairo: Jocelyn DeJong.
- Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) Family Planning and Women in Development Project, Amman: Tokiko Sato, Taeko Kawamura, Kaoru Tanno.
- JICA Jordan Office, Amman: Yoshio Yabe, Hiroe Ono.
- National Population Commission/Queen Alia Fund for Social Development, Amman: Shadia Nusseir, Amir Bakir.
- Ministry of Public Health, Republic of Yemen: Nagiba A. Abdul-Ghani.
- National Population Council, Republic of Yemen: Amin M. Al-Janad.



Acronyms and Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
BMI	Body mass index
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CTD	Division of Control of Tropical Diseases
	(of the WHO)
DAC	Development Assistance Committee
	(of the OECD)
EMRO	Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean
	(of the WHO)
EOC	Essential obstetric care
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FGC	Female genital cutting
GNP	Gross national product
GCC	Gulf Cooperation Council
GNP/c	Gross national product per capita
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
Hb	Hemoglobin
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HNP	Health, nutrition, and population
ICPD	International Conference on Population
	and Development
IEC	Information, education, and communication
IMR	Infant mortality rate
IPPF	International Planned Parenthood Federation
IUD	Intrauterine device

JAFPP	Jordanian Association for Family Planning
	and Protection
JICA	Japan International Cooperation Agency
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
MCH	Maternal and child health
MMR	Maternal mortality ratio
MNSHD	Human Development Group, Middle East
	and North Africa Region (of the World Bank)
NGO	Nongovernmental organization
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation
	and Development
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
PAPCHILD	Pan Arab Project for Child Development
PAPFAM	Pan Arab Project for Family Health
РНС	Primary health care
QAF	Queen Alia Fund for Social Development
RTI	Reproductive tract infection
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
STD	Sexually transmitted disease
TBA	Traditional birth attendant
TFR	Total fertility rate
TOT	Training of trainers
U5MR	Under-five mortality rate
UAE	United Arab Emirates
U.N.	United Nations
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNRWA	United Nations Relief and Work Agency
	for Palestine Refugees in the Near East
USAID	United States Agency for International
	Development
WBG	West Bank and Gaza
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization
	6



Executive Summary

Good health is one of the basic human rights endorsed by various international initiatives, as well as a prerequisite of social and economic development. In many countries and cultures, women are not allowed to participate fully in the decisionmaking processes that directly affect their health status. Because women play major roles in raising children and caring for family members, deaths and illness among women affect the health and well-being of the family as a whole, and consequently of the entire population.

Reproductive health is a relatively new concept that comprehensively addresses all of the health issues regarding reproduction for both women and men, whether young or old. Reproductive health sometimes addresses women's health issues as a whole, since most of them are closely related to reproduction.

This review assesses reproductive health issues in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region and identifies determining factors, causes, and consequences of reproductive health problems. Its objective is to establish a base of knowledge upon which a strategy can be constructed. As recognized in the population and reproductive health strategy paper of the World Bank, one of the major challenges is regional and cultural diversity; therefore both a regional strategy and country-specific strategies need to be developed.

Reproductive Health in the MENA Region

MENA countries have achieved significant improvements in terms of health outcomes during the last three decades. For instance, total fertility rates declined remarkably in the 1980s in several countries, and infant mortality rates decreased in most MENA countries. Despite these achievements, however, several reproductive health problems persist, while new issues have emerged. Current major reproductive health problems in the MENA region include high maternal mortality in several countries; high fertility and a slowing of the decline in fertility rates; early marriage and high teenage fertility; increasing prevalence of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) including HIV/AIDS; and female genital cutting (FGC) in Egypt and Yemen.

Maternal mortality ratios (MMR) remain high in several MENA countries such as Yemen, Egypt, and Morocco, and the rate has increased in Iraq. Among the 18,000 maternal deaths in the region each year, 7,800 occur in Yemen, 3,000 in Egypt, and 1,600 in Morocco. Overall, a leading cause of death among women of reproductive age is pregnancy-related illness. The major causes of maternal mortality are bleeding, infection, and pregnancy-induced hypertension: about 25–30 percent of maternal deaths are attributable to severe bleeding. The share of maternal deaths caused by unsafe abortion in the region is lower than the global average. In Egypt, one-quarter of maternal death cases also involved the death of the fetus, and one-third of the cases involved the subsequent deaths of infants that were born alive.

Both increased prenatal care coverage and increased rates of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants correlate with a decrease in MMR. The most effective intervention for preventing maternal deaths is attendance at birth by health professionals trained in lifesaving skills, with backup for care of severe complications. Better postpartum care and postabortion care also reduces MMR. Among MENA countries, there are significant gaps between urban and rural areas in terms of access to and quality of services, and the gaps are particularly large within lower-income countries and countries with higher MMRs. This indicates that interventions should be targeted to decreasing maternal deaths among the underprivileged population.

Although fertility has declined substantially in the MENA countries over the past 15 to 20 years, the region has the second-highest rate of natural increase in the world. The total fertility rate (TFR), or expected number of children per woman, is approximately five in the MENA region, much higher than the global average of 3.2. Among MENA countries, TFRs range from less than three in Iran and Tunisia to almost six in Yemen, Saudi Arabia, and West Bank and Gaza. The decline in fertility in MENA is due to the increased age of women at marriage, increased age at first childbirth, and increased use of contraception. Fertility decline started to occur in the region in the early 1970s and accelerated considerably in the early to mid-1980s. In several countries, however, the pace of decline slowed in the 1990s.

Fertility decline is encouraged by several factors, including low infant and child mortality, high female literacy and education, and family planning programs. Even without widespread use of contraception, fertility decline may occur as a result of broader changes in the social environment that affect the status of women, better health services that reduce infant mortality, and increased income levels and urbanization. In the MENA region, however, the relationship between income and fertility is less clear-cut: TFRs in MENA countries are high compared with those of countries in other regions that have similar income levels.

High fertility and rapid population growth place pressure on various sectors and can therefore hinder economic and social progress. Frequent, closely spaced births often take a toll on the health status of both mothers and their children. Despite recognition of the negative impacts of rapid population growth, fewer than half the countries in the region have explicit policies to lower fertility, and access to family planning is still limited.

The prevalence rate of modern contraceptive methods is only 10 percent in Yemen and is less than 30 percent in countries such as Oman, Syria, and the United Arab Emirates. The two primary reasons for not using family planning services or for discontinuing the use of contraceptives are the desire for another child and the fear of side effects. Lack of access to quality services is a major reason for unmet need, indicating that both access and quality issues must be addressed. Expanding the mix of methods, improving counseling, and strengthening the technical competence of providers are essential steps for improving access and quality.

To some extent, higher income levels, increased health expenditures, and rising educational levels for women are each linked to a decrease in MMR. However, contrary to the global experience, these factors do not necessarily correlate with the expected number of children per woman in MENA countries. In addition, women's increased share of household income does not correlate with either decreased MMR or the expected number of children per woman.

Although the estimated prevalence of STIs in the MENA region was the second-lowest among six developing regions, around 12 million people in the region suffer from STIs. Compared with other regions, estimated adult HIV prevalence also remains low; however, the total number of AIDS deaths has increased almost sixfold since the early 1990s. Main transmission routes include intravenous drug use in Iran and sexual contact in Yemen.

About 1.6 million girls are married before age 20, and every year about 900,000 babies are born to teenage mothers. High teenage fertility in MENA countries is due to the high incidence of early marriage. Approximately 60 percent of married women under age 24 in Yemen and Oman, and more than 40 percent in Egypt, were married before the age of 20. Teenage fertility rates in Yemen, Oman, and Libya are twice the global average. The health risks associated with pregnancy and childbirth are generally higher for young teenage mothers than for women in their twenties.

Despite international condemnation and a government ban, FGC of young girls is practiced in Egypt. Most Egyptians have a positive attitude toward the practice, and almost all Egyptian women have undergone the procedure. FGC is practiced in Yemen as well, particularly in coastal areas.

Improving Reproductive Health

MENA countries fall into three broad groups in relation to reproductive health issues:

- 1. Low-income and lower-middle-income countries with high maternal mortality, high fertility, and high adolescent fertility.
- 2. Lower-middle-income and upper-middle-income countries with high fertility, high adolescent fertility, and moderately high maternal mortality.
- 3. High-income countries with moderately high fertility and increasing prevalence of STIs.

Compared with countries at similar income levels in other regions, particularly upper-middle-income countries, the MENA region is unique with regard to its high total fertility and adolescent fertility. Countries with high maternal mortality have an urgent need to improve maternal care; those with high fertility need to develop effective strategies and improve access to and quality of services; and all countries should strengthen STI/HIV prevention programs. Strategies and interventions will differ depending on each country's economic and social situation.

Reproductive health problems are attributable to complex factors, and issues are deeply related to a country's levels of social development and gender equity. Possible causes of problems and obstacles to improving reproductive health status include:

- Lack of explicit policy guidelines and strong commitment by governments.
- Lack or shortage of financial resources, due in part to competing priorities.
- Lack of awareness of problems on the part of policymakers and the general public.
- Cultural and social barriers, including relatively large gender inequity.

- Poor quality of services.
- Ineffective program design and unclear targets.
- Delayed development of other critical sectors.

Key components of strategies for improving reproductive health in the region are as follows:

- Focus on priority issues, such as high maternal mortality and high fertility. Programs should be designed to achieve tangible impacts on the priority issues.
- Target the underprivileged, especially the poor and those living in rural areas. A strategy should be developed to decrease the gaps within countries.
- Overcome the obstacles, such as shortage of financial and human resources, and cultural resistance. Comprehensive approaches will work best in this regard.
- Improve quality of care by establishing standard protocols, setting up systems for quality monitoring and regulation, training and deploying skilled health professionals, and securing essential equipment and drugs. Managerial capacity must be improved at all levels.
- Develop sustainable financing mechanisms to ensure access to essential services and to provide incentives that encourage preventive care. Health system reform efforts must include reproductive health services. Private sector involvement and community financing measures should be explored.
- Raise awareness and change behaviors through effective information, education, and communication (IEC) strategies. Target audiences include women, husbands, elders, community leaders, and policymakers.
- Empower women by promoting women's participation in decisionmaking and overall developmental process.

Possible interventions for each issue are:

- High maternal mortality: Establish essential obstetric care at the basic and first-referral level with effective linkage and highquality prenatal care; raise awareness.
- High fertility: Improve access and quality of family planning services; enhance IEC to increase demand.
- Increasing prevalence of STIs: Establish surveillance systems; develop clinical protocols; provide counseling and high-quality services; raise awareness of risky behaviors.
- Early marriage and high teenage fertility: Raise awareness of decisionmakers in families and communities; promote girls' education.
- FGC in Egypt and Yemen: Raise awareness of decisionmakers in families and communities.

Possible Roles of the World Bank

The World Bank's comparative advantage is its capacity for policy dialogue and resource mobilization. Because of its access to both finance and planning ministries, as well as functional ministries such as health, education, and women's affairs, the Bank is well positioned to facilitate synergistic policies that link investments in different sectors to achieve optimum impacts. The Bank's long-term commitment is also important, because it takes at least 15 years to achieve results in human development interventions in general; it may take even longer in reproductive health interventions. Further, the Bank has the financial capacity to support the strengthening of obstetric referral systems, including first-referral hospitals, which are essential. Strengthening partnerships with other agencies that are active in reproductive health will help the Bank improve the effectiveness of its operations.

For the Well-Being of Future Generations

Reproductive health problems have direct negative impacts on women and their children, who constitute approximately threequarters of the world population. These problems also impede the long-term economic and social development of a country because they diminish productivity, educational attainment, and quality of life, while increasing health care costs and social inequity.

Improved reproductive health will contribute to reducing poverty and inequity and to developing human capital comprehensively. It is a key to achieving the well-being of future generations and prosperity for society as a whole. CHAPTER 1



Introduction

Reproductive Health and Rights

During the 1990s, the United Nations organized a series of global conferences that resulted in an ambitious agenda to promote socially equitable, sustainable development.¹ These conferences adopted agreements based on principles of human rights and the eradication of poverty through the development of human potential. More specifically, the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) in Cairo and the 1995 Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing established sexual and reproductive health and rights as fundamental to human rights and development.⁽⁴⁶⁾

The ICPD Programme of Action defined reproductive health and rights as follows: $^{(147)}$

- Reproductive health is a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to its functions and processes.
- Reproductive rights embrace certain human rights that are already recognized in national laws, international human rights documents, and other consensus documents. These rights rest on the recognition of the basic right of all couples and individuals to

decide freely and responsibly the number, spacing, and timing of their children, to have the information and means to do so, and to have the right to attain the highest standard of sexual and reproductive health.

The aspects of reproductive health care are defined as follows:

- Family planning services, counseling, information, and education.
- Prenatal care, safe delivery, postnatal care, and the management of complications of pregnancy and delivery.
- Prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of infertility.
- Prevention of abortion and management of the consequences of abortion.
- Diagnosis and treatment of reproductive tract infections (RTIs) and sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including HIV/AIDS.
- Information, education, and counseling on human sexuality, reproductive health, and responsible parenthood.
- Diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer and cancers of the reproductive system.
- Active discouragement of harmful practices such as female genital cutting (FGC) and gender-related violence.

Recognizing that the health of newborns is inextricably linked to the well-being of the mother, the Programme of Action linked reproductive health and infant health in a number of commitments. For example, it states that family planning and reproductive health programs should emphasize breastfeeding education and support services, which can simultaneously contribute to birth spacing, better maternal and child health, and higher child survival.

As described above, reproductive health comprehensively addresses all of the health issues regarding reproduction for both women and men, whether young or old. Sometimes reproductive health addresses women's health issues as a whole, as most of these



issues are closely related to human reproduction. In short, reproductive health covers maternal health, family planning, STIs and RTIs, and adolescent health. However, most child health issues and population issues related to other sectors are generally not included (figure 1).

Global Perspectives on Reproductive Health

Reproductive health problems remain prevalent among the poor throughout the world. Although the majority of women go through pregnancy and childbirth without any problem, 40 percent of pregnant women experience a pregnancy-related complication, and 15 percent of pregnant women develop a serious complication requiring medical intervention. A leading cause of death among women of reproductive age is pregnancy-related illness.

Recognizing the magnitude of the problem, delegates to the Global Safe Motherhood Conference in Nairobi in 1987 launched

the Safe Motherhood Initiative. By the late 1990s, however, the picture of women's reproductive health status was still discouraging. Every year, throughout the world:

- 585,000 women died from complications of pregnancy and childbirth.^(190, 232)
- 64 million women experienced dangerous pregnancy complications.
- 120 million women had an unmet need for family planning.⁽²³⁴⁾
- 125–165 million women contracted an STI.⁽⁴⁶⁾

Moreover, the ill health of mothers affects their children directly. About 20 percent of the burden of disease among children under five years of age is attributable to perinatal conditions associated with poor maternal health. These conditions are also responsible for the deaths of more than 3 million newborns annually.

In developing countries, children up to the age of 10 whose mothers have died are 3 to 10 times more likely to die within two years than are children with living parents.⁽¹³⁵⁾ In addition, a mother's death has negative impacts on her children's educational attainment, as motherless children often drop out of school in order to assume household tasks.

Maternal and child health (MCH) programs have often failed to address maternal health problems, concentrating instead on improving child health. More recently, attention to maternal health issues, as well as reproductive health issues in general, has increasingly been recognized not only as a crucial means to achieve good health outcomes for women and children but also as a means to promote the broader objectives of social and economic development and stability.

The risk of maternal death is one of the most striking differences between rich and poor countries, but substantial gaps also exist between rich and poor households within countries in terms of maternal care coverage and the associated risks of morbidity and mortality. Maternal health indicators show larger gaps between the rich and the poor than do child health indicators for these groups.⁽²³²⁾ There are also considerable regional variations, as disparities exist between countries from different world regions even when those countries have otherwise comparable economic characteristics.

Women in developing countries are at greater risk during pregnancy, childbirth, and the postpartum period than are women in industrial countries. Women in developing countries are less likely to be assisted during childbirth by a skilled attendant, and they have less access to medical care in case of an emergency. In addition to the availability and quality of medical care, a woman's health and nutritional status and the number of previous pregnancies also help to determine her risk during pregnancy and childbirth.

Fertility reduction is critical for reducing maternal deaths. With each pregnancy, a woman is at risk of developing a pregnancyrelated complication, and the risk increases with each subsequent pregnancy. By providing the means to space or limit pregnancies and births, family planning can prevent at least 25 percent of all maternal deaths.⁽¹³⁰⁾ In addition, spacing births at least two years apart can prevent almost one in four infant deaths in developing countries.

Reduction in human fertility, known as the fertility transition, results in smaller family size and slower population growth. Family planning, an important factor in fertility reduction, has helped alter world population size. Without family planning programs, total fertility for developing countries in 1980–85 would have been 5.4 instead of 4.2 children per woman. As of 1990, family planning programs were estimated to have averted more than 400 million births. Infant mortality rates (IMR) in developing countries are estimated to have declined by 10 points per 1,000 as a result of family planning use.⁽²¹⁴⁾

Most countries at first sought to slow population growth through the provision of family planning services. However, this supplydriven approach often led to backlashes or else did not work well because not enough demand was created. Therefore, population programs have been rethought. The new emphasis is on taking a comprehensive reproductive health approach, by working to improve the nutrition, health, education, and empowerment of women while providing continued support for family planning services.

STIs and RTIs cause various complications, including infertility and even death, as in the case of HIV/AIDS. Unfortunately, accurate data about the prevalence of STIs and RTIs are often unavailable for various reasons, particularly within conservative societies. For instance, women suffering from STIs and RTIs are often reluctant to seek care because of the stigma that is usually attached. Moreover, many women do not even realize that they are experiencing problems that require medical attention because they either lack proper information or do not receive regular health screenings. Therefore, STIs, RTIs, and HIV/ AIDS should be effectively addressed in the context of comprehensive reproductive health services.

In recent years, adolescent reproductive health issues have received increased attention globally. Risks during pregnancy and childbirth are higher for adolescent girls than for adult women. However, adolescents often lack access to reproductive health information and services that could help them avoid high-risk behaviors and delay pregnancy. Health professionals also find it difficult to reach adolescents because of values and biases or the intimidating environment of health facilities.

Reproductive health status is also deeply rooted in various gender and cultural issues. Women's status in their families and communities, as well as their levels of education, income, and participation in decisionmaking, are important determinants of their health status. Therefore, success in improving reproductive health requires a broad range of policy and program interventions involving the education and empowerment of women.

Objectives of the Review

The purpose of this review is to assess reproductive health issues in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region; develop a base of knowledge and augment regional knowledge management systems; identify determining factors, causes, and consequences of reproductive health problems; and suggest strategic directions for future actions. This review is also intended to supplement the MENA regional Health, Nutrition, and Population (HNP) sector strategy paper.⁽²²¹⁾

The following countries in the MENA region are discussed in this review: Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates (UAE), West Bank and Gaza (WBG), and Yemen.

CHAPTER 2



Reproductive Health Status in MENA Countries

Overview of the Health Situation

Most of the countries in the MENA region have economies that are in the lower-middle-income range in terms of their gross national product per capita (GNP/c).² However, the region includes both high-income countries, such as the oil-producing Gulf states, and one of the lowest-income countries in the world, Yemen. The region is generally characterized as having a harsh climate with little rainfall. The vast majority of land in the region is arid desert; less than 10 percent of the land is arable.⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ Most people in the region speak Arabic (except in Iran and Israel) and are Muslim (except in Israel).

Health and other social indicators vary among MENA countries, depending upon the level of economic and social development (table 1). Most social indicators are comparable to those of countries in other regions with similar levels of economic development. Local traditions, which are not necessarily related to religion, often have significant implications for health, nutrition, education, and other social sectors.

		TOTAL		LITERAC	Y RATE	SECONDAR	Y SCHOOL	FEMALE	HEALTH	ACCESS TO
COUNTRY	CAPITA (US\$)	POPULATION (MILLIONS)	GROWTH RATE (%)	FEMALE (%)	MALE (%)	FEMALE (%)	MALE (%)	EARNED	PER CAPITA (US\$)	(% OF POPULATION)
Low-income										
Yemen	270	15.7	3.3	26	53	9	37	21	19	45
Lower-middl	e-income									
Iraq	—	20.6	2.8	45	71	34	53	14	_	77
Syria	1,150	14.6	2.7	56	86	41	50	20	—	99
Egypt	1,180	63.3	1.9	39	64	71	82	25	38	84
Morocco	1,250	27.0	1.9	31	57	32	43	28	41	63
Algeria	1,490	28.8	2.2	49	74	58	66	19	73	78
Jordan	1,570	5.6	2.7	79	93	54	52	19	118	98
Iran	1,780	70.0	2.1	59	78	62	76	19	60	95
WBG	1,870	2.3	5.8	84	84	_	_	—	129	84
Tunisia	2,090	9.2	1.6	55	79	53	58	25	105	90
Lebanon	3,350	3.1	1.8	90	95	83	75	23	375	95
Upper-middl	e-income									
Oman	4,950	2.3	1.8	46	71	61	67	11	_	95
Libya	_	5.6	2.4	63	88	95	95	16	_	100
Saudi Arabia	6,790	18.8	2.2	50	72	47	57	10	536	99
Bahrain	7,840	0.6	3.7	79	89	100	97	15	497	100
High-income										
Qatar	11,600	0.6	2.5	80	79	82	82	10	319	100
Israel	15,810	5.7	2.6	93	97	89	83	33	_	_
UAE	17,360	2.5	2.9	80	79	97	88	10	338	99
Kuwait	17,390	1.7	2.8	75	82	64	65	25	_	100

Table 1. Basic Indicators in MENA Countries (most recent data between 1990 and 1998)

	LIFE EXPE	CTANCY	INFANT MORTALITY RATE	UNDER-5 MORTALITY RATE	MATERNAL MORTALITY RATIO	TOTAL	CONTRACEPTIVE	LOW BIRTH-	ANEMIA (AMONG PREGNANT	stunting (under
COUNTRY	FEMALE (YEARS)	MALE (YEARS)	(PER 1,000 LIVE BIRTHS)	(PER 1,000 LIVE BIRTHS)	(PER 100,000 LIVE BIRTHS)	FERTILITY RATE	PREVALENCE (%)	WEIGHT (%)	WOMEN) (%)°	AGE 5) (%)
Low-income										
Yemen	57	56	76	100	1,000	5.9	21	19	_	39
Lower-middle-i	ncome									
Iraq	63	60	94	122	310	4.7	18	6	_	28
Syria	71	66	27	33	97	4.0	60	11	49–52	21
Egypt	67	64	54	73	174	3.3	54	10	21–79	30
Morocco	68	64	58	72	228	3.3	59	9	20–40	24
Algeria	72	68	34	39	140	3.6	51	9	42	18
Jordan	72	69	20	24	40	4.4	53	7	25–46	16
Iran	70	69	32	35	37	2.6	72	9	20–50	19
WBG	69	67	25	28	70	6	32	_	23–56	14
Tunisia	71	69	27	33	69	2.8	60	8	41	23
Lebanon	71	68	30	37	104	2.5	63	10	49	12
Upper-middle-i	ncome									
Oman	73	69	15	18	21	4.8	28	8	49–54	23
Libya	70	66	22	25	40	4	45	5	_	15
Saudi Arabia	71	69	24	28	18	5.9	_	7	5–57	14
Bahrain	75	71	18	22	39	3.3	62	6	_	10
High-income										
Qatar	75	70	16	20	10	2.8	32	5	30	8
Israel	79	75	6	6	5	2.6	53	7	10-32	_
UAE	76	74	9	10	2	3.5	28	6	22–62	_
Kuwait	79	74	12	13	9	2.9	61	7	40	12

Table 1 Continued. (most recent data between 1990 and 1998)

— Not available.

Note: The definitions of income groups are as follows: Low-income = GNP/c \$785 or less; lower-middle-income = \$786-\$3,125; upper-middle-income = \$3,126-\$9,655; and high-income = \$9,656 or more.

a. Anemia values are expressed as a range due to multiple data sources (based on small, regional surveys, not national surveys).

Sources: 9, 89, 158, 166, 204, 230, 231, 233.
Population growth rates in MENA countries are relatively high when compared with those for countries in other regions with similar levels of economic development. Although countries such as Tunisia and Egypt have implemented successful family planning programs, the region's overall population is expected to double within 30 years, even if its annual population growth rate declines to 2.3 percent. In addition to the consequences of natural growth, increased migration will have significant social and economic impacts. This migration is not only from rural to urban areas, but also from low-income and lowermiddle-income countries both within and outside of the region to the high-income Gulf states. Influxes of foreign workers to the Gulf states resulted in an annual population growth rate of 5 to 7 percent in the 1970s.⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ The oil-producing countries attract workers from Egypt, Jordan, Syria, WBG, Yemen, Bangladesh, India, Indonesia, Korea, Pakistan, the Philippines, and others. Jordan exports workers to the Gulf states and imports workers from Egypt.

The epidemiological transition is underway in most MENA countries, as incidences of noncommunicable diseases are increasing significantly. Major causes of adult deaths are circulatory diseases and cancers (table 2). However, infectious diseases, such as diarrhea and acute respiratory infection, also remain major causes of morbidity and mortality among the poor and underprivileged, especially in places such as Yemen, rural Egypt, and Morocco.

As a result of the current difficulties of the economic environment, which are in part due to declining oil revenues, most MENA countries now face pressures to reform their health care systems in order to make them more efficient, effective, equitable, and sustainable. The epidemiological transition has financial implications for the health care system in each country, because the treatment of noncommunicable diseases is much more costly than the treatment of communicable diseases through public health interventions. In addition, the unregulated introduction of modern medical technology rapidly increases health care costs.

Overview of Reproductive Health Status

In comparison with countries of similar income levels in other regions, the MENA countries have particularly large gender gaps in education and social participation. Although MENA countries vary widely in terms of economic development and the status of social sectors, they often share similar cultural constraints that make it difficult to address various reproductive health issues directly. While many remarkable improvements in social sectors have been achieved in the past several decades, various health problems continue to threaten women's well-being in the MENA region.

The two most serious issues are high maternal mortality and high fertility. It is estimated that about 18,000 maternal deaths occur in the region each year, of which 7,800 are in Yemen, 3,000 in Egypt, and 1,600 in Morocco. Total fertility rates (TFRs) are high in MENA countries, regardless of a country's income level. For instance, in

COUNTRY	CIRCULATORY SYSTEM DISEASES	CANCERS	ACCIDENTS AND INJURIES	YEAR(S)
Iraq	28.0	10.0	_	1982–87
Syria	18.0	2.7	3.2	1992
Egypt				
Male	44.6	_	5.4	1991
Female	46.4	—	2.9	
Jordan				
Male	44.2	2.2	15.4	1991
Female	34.5	3.1	6.7	
Iran	29.0	8.0	_	1982–87
WBG	35.4	11.9	3.3	1997
Oman	24.3	11.3	6.3	1992
Bahrain	28.6	12.3	8.2	1993
Qatar	34.0	12.0	19.0	1994
UAE	25.0	8.0	_	1992
Kuwait	36.7	12.4	10.6	1994

(percentage of total deaths)

Table 2. Causes of Adult Death in MENA Countries

— Not available.

Sources: 89, 104, 201, 220, 226, 227.

Yemen, Saudi Arabia, and WBG, the expected number of children per woman is around six.

Global experience suggests that the impacts of STIs and adolescent reproductive health problems are likely to increase in the near future. The estimated prevalence rates of STIs and HIV/AIDS are relatively low in the MENA region, compared with other regions; however, reported AIDS cases are increasing rapidly. Unmarried adolescents generally find it difficult to access reproductive health information and services, as sexual relationships outside of marriage are culturally unacceptable in most MENA countries. High teenage fertility is a result of the high incidence of early marriage. About 1.6 million girls are married before the age of 20 years, and every year about 900,000 babies are born to teenage mothers.

Maternal Health

Maternal Mortality

The maternal mortality ratios (MMRs) in some MENA countries remain high.³ About 18,000 deaths a year—or 3 percent of total maternal deaths in the world—occur in the MENA region, which has about 6 percent of the world's population. This figure may look relatively good, but maternal deaths in the MENA region are concentrated in a handful of countries: about one-half occur in Yemen, one-fifth in Egypt, and one-tenth in Morocco (figure 2; table 3).

The MMR in Yemen is one of the highest in the world, comparable to those of the poorest Sub-Saharan African countries.⁽²³⁰⁾ Although the MMRs in Morocco, Egypt, and Syria have declined in the past 15 years, they remain relatively high (figure 3). The MMR in Morocco is 1.8 times higher than that in the Philippines, although the per capita incomes of the two countries are similar. After the Gulf War, the MMR in Iraq increased rapidly while international sanctions were in effect.⁽¹⁸⁹⁾

In one Egyptian governorate, 23 percent of the deaths of married women of reproductive age were due to complications resulting from pregnancy, childbirth, and the puerperium.⁽²³⁹⁾ Even if women



survive such conditions, they may suffer from persistent, long-term complications that substantially damage their quality of life and productivity.

The death of a pregnant woman often results in the death of her unborn child. For example, among 718 maternal mortality cases in Egypt, 25 percent entailed the deaths of both the mother and the fetus, while 32 percent resulted in the subsequent death of the liveborn infant.⁽⁸⁷⁾

The major causes of maternal mortality are bleeding, infection, and eclampsia (or pregnancy-induced hypertension with or without convulsion) (table 4). On average, about one-quarter of maternal deaths are attributable to severe bleeding. A national maternal mor-

	MATERNAL		ANEMIA											
	MORTALITY	LOW	(AMONG	PR	ENATAL CA	RE	ANTI-	DELI	/ERIES ASSI	STED	C	DELIVERIES I	N	POSTNATAL
	ratio (per	BIRTH-	PREGNANT	COV	/erage (% (OF)	TETANUS	BY SK	ILLED ATTEN	IDANTS	HE	alth facili	TIES	CARE (%
	100,000	WEIGHT	r women)	PREG	NANT WO	MEN	VACCINATION	1 <u>(%</u> OF	TOTAL DEL	IVERIES)	(% OF	TOTAL DEL	VERIES)	OF TOTAL
COUNTRY	LIVE BIRTHS)	(%)	(%)°	URBAN	RURAL	TOTAL	(%)	URBAN	RURAL	TOTAL	URBAN	RURAL	TOTAL	DELIVERIES)
Low-ind	come													
Yemen	1,000	19		61	27	35	17	61	37	43	33	8	12	5
Lower-	middle-in	come												
Iraq	310	21		_	_	87	56	_	_	54	_		_	_
Syria	97	11	49–52	64	37	51	19	92	62	76	61	19	37	27
Égypt	174	10	21–79	71	40	52	72	_	_	56	64	24	40	
Morocco	228	9	20–40			45	42	64	14	40°	59	13	28	_
Algeria	140	9	42	72	48	58	52	87	68	77	86	68	76	
Jordan	40	7	25–46	97	92	96	40	98	92	97	85	69	80	
Iran	37	9	20–50	58	44	62	76	90	51	74	86	41	65	
WBG	70	_	23–56	_	_	92		_	_	88	_	_	87	87
Tunisia	69	8	41	88	69	79	61	94	66	81	_	_		_
Lebanon	104	10	49	_	_	92	_	_	_	98	_	_	88	39
Upper-	middle-in	come												
Oman	21	8	49–54	99	97	98	74	93	88	91	91	86	89	74
Libya	40	5		85	71	81	42	97	89	94	96	88	94	
Saudi Ar	rabia 18	7	5–57	89	84	87	65	95	82	90	93	72	86	_
Bahrain	39	6		99	93	96	56	97	91	98 [⊾]	99	95	97	62
High-in	come													
Qatar	10	5	30	96	90	94	_	97	95	97	83	88	87	
Israel	5	7	10-32	_	_	90	_	_	_	99	_	_	100	_
UAE	2	6	22–62	_	_	95	_	100	99	99	88	90	89	42
Kuwait	9	7	40	97	95	95	21	94	96	98	99	97	97	35

Table 3. Maternal Health Indicators in MENA Countries

— Not available.

a. The total figure is more recent than the urban-rural figures.

b. Anemia values are expressed as a range due to multiple data sources (based on small, regional surveys, not national surveys). *Sources:* 4, 6, 26, 36, 37, 44, 81, 82, 110, 112, 113, 114, 115, 136, 165, 166, 172, 182, 185, 191, 204, 230, 233, 236.



tality study in Egypt showed that bleeding (mostly postpartum bleeding) caused more than 30 percent of maternal deaths (figure 4). The share of maternal deaths caused by unsafe abortion in the region, as well as in Egypt, is lower than the global average.

Anemia prevalence among pregnant women is high in all MENA countries, regardless of the income level of the country (table 3). Anemia during pregnancy increases the risk of maternal mortality, as it lowers both tolerance of blood loss and resistance to infection. Frequent, closely spaced pregnancies impede a woman's recovery from the worsened nutritional status during pregnancy and lactation. In addition, women often do not recognize the symptoms of anemia, as it is a chronic disorder. Worldwide, bleeding is the direct cause of 25 percent of maternal deaths, while 15 percent are attributable to infection; however, in developing countries, anemia is a contributing factor in between 25 and 100 percent of all maternal deaths.^(185, 193)

Although the MMR is one of the best-known indicators of the maternal health status of a country, it cannot reveal short-term changes among relatively small portions of a population. Various indicators are also applied in order to better monitor the status and progress of maternal health care.^(98, 173) These indicators include: met need for essential obstetric care (EOC); unmet obstetric need; cesarean section rates; proportions of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants; proportions of births by site; case fatality rates; and referral rates. Other process indicators are also used to monitor the progress of interventions.⁽¹³²⁾

Prenatal Care

The purpose of prenatal care is to ensure the well-being of both the pregnant woman and the fetus, to enhance birth planning, and to identify and manage complications.⁽⁶⁴⁾ Such care can be provided at relatively low cost through primary health care (PHC) channels. Prenatal checkups include the management of pregnancyinduced hypertension, recognition of abnormal lie, tetanus toxoid

CAUSE	MIDDLE EASTERN CRESCENT ^A (% OF TOTAL MATERNAL DEATHS)	WORLD (% OF TOTAL MATERNAL DEATHS)
Severe bleeding	25	25
Infection	17	15
Eclampsia	17	13
Obstructed labor	8	7
Unsafe abortion	8	13
Other causes	27	27

Table 4. Causes of Maternal Mortality

a. Includes the following countries in addition to the countries of the MENA region: Afghanistan, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Cyprus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Pakistan, Tajikistan, Turkey, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan.

Source: 103.



immunization, nutrition management including prevention and treatment of anemia, and health and nutrition education including promotion of breastfeeding. Prenatal care also provides links to delivery care.

In order to minimize the risk of maternal mortality, all pregnant women should have access to quality prenatal care with good linkage to referral-level services. High-quality prenatal care can reduce avoidable obstetric risks through the early identification of complications and prompt referral to the appropriate backup medical facility. In addition, effective prenatal care could address an additional 20 percent of maternal deaths resulting from indirect causes, such as anemia and malaria.⁽²³²⁾ Among MENA countries, increased prenatal care coverage correlates with decreased MMR. However, the correlation is less significant when the MMR is lower than 50 percent and coverage is higher than 70 percent (figure 5).



Because of a lack of regular checkups, many problems that pregnant women experience go unrecognized. Nevertheless, most pregnant women in MENA countries attend prenatal checkups only when they have complaints (table 5). Another major reason for not receiving prenatal care in Yemen and Algeria, where people live in remote or sparsely populated areas, is the difficulty of accessing health facilities. In Lebanon, the cost of prenatal care is a main prohibitory factor. In addition, cultural obstacles, such as the absence of female health professionals in a facility, can hinder women from seeking

		anena prei			
REASON FOR NOT ATTENDING	YEMEN	SYRIA	ALGERIA	LEBANON	LIBYA
Have no complaint to make	33	75	58	59	80
Facility too far away	24		—	—	—
No service available	14	1	18	_	1
Costs too much	9	3	6	24	1
Poor previous experience	2	16	11	10	9
Other	18	5	8	6	9

 Table 5. Reasons for Not Attending Prenatal Care

(% of pregnant women who do not attend prenatal care)

Sources: 25, 110, 112, 114, 115.

services. Health policies and systems should be planned in such a way that physical, financial, and cultural obstacles can be removed.

Essential Obstetric Care

To save the lives of the majority of women with obstetric complications, EOC should be accessible for all women during pregnancy and delivery.⁽¹⁷³⁾

Unpredictable, life-threatening obstetric complications are responsible for nearly three-quarters of maternal deaths. Unfortunately, risk-screening methodologies are simply unable to reliably predict which women will experience these complications. Health care systems should establish effective linkages between prenatal care at the PHC level and timely intervention for obstetric emergencies at the first-referral level.

Referral medical services must be accessible and of good quality. "Good quality" implies that services have essential equipment, drugs, and other medical supplies; well-trained, qualified health professionals; technically effective and efficient treatment protocols; a sanitary and comfortable environment; good client-staff communication and counseling services; an environment of confidentiality and privacy; and polite attitude of health staff. As seen in Yemen and rural Egypt, patients may not go to, or PHC staff may not send patients to, referral services that are of poor quality.



The increased proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants correlates with the decreased MMRs among MENA countries (figure 6). The proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants is regarded as a good proxy of maternal mortality. One of the most effective interventions for preventing maternal deaths is attendance at birth by health professionals trained in life-saving skills, who can provide prompt diagnosis and treatment of complications, or, if necessary, speedy referral to a better-equipped facility. Skilled attendants include formally trained health professionals such as physicians, nurses, and midwives, but do not include traditional birth attendants (TBAs), who cannot be relied on to perform emergency life-saving medical interventions.^(98, 132)

EOC can be categorized as basic or comprehensive. Basic EOC includes assisted vaginal delivery, management of convulsions and bleeding, and treatment of infection. Comprehensive EOC also includes blood transfusion and cesarean section.

It is estimated that at least 15 percent of all births in the population lead to a potentially life-threatening complication requiring qualified care.⁽¹⁷³⁾ Thus, for every 500,000 population, there should be one facility providing comprehensive EOC, including cesarean section and blood transfusion, and four facilities providing basic EOC, including assisted vaginal deliveries. The proportion of births by site is a useful indicator to understand accessibility and coverage of EOC.⁽⁹⁸⁾

The proportion of deliveries in health facilities is higher among higher-income countries in the MENA region (table 3). In addition, the proportion is three to four times higher in urban areas than in rural areas within lower-income countries, such as Egypt, Morocco, and Syria. Because deliveries in health facilities are usually assisted by skilled attendants, and obstetric emergencies can be handled promptly, the increase in deliveries in health facilities contributes to decreasing maternal mortality. However, the statistics often do not specify whether or not health facilities can provide EOC. The facilities range from well-equipped hospitals with specialized staffs to community-level health centers with auxiliary staffs, so life-saving interventions are not necessarily available at all facilities where deliveries take place. As long as skilled attendants and referral mechanisms are secured for home deliveries, normal deliveries do not necessarily have to take place at health facilities, where quality of care can vary widely.

In Egypt, the proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants has increased by about 20 percent since 1988; however, the coverage of prenatal care remained at about 50 percent during this time (figure 7). GNP/c in Egypt has also increased steadily since 1993. The increase in the proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants may be due to the increase in deliveries in health facilities, as well as the increase in the availability of trained health



personnel. Meanwhile, prenatal care coverage has not improved, most likely because of poor quality of services and lack of public awareness.

Urban-Rural Gaps

Across the region, there are significant gaps between urban and rural areas in terms of prenatal care coverage and the proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants (figures 8, 9). The gaps are particularly large within lower-income countries. For instance,



in Morocco, 64 percent of deliveries in urban areas but only 14 percent of deliveries in rural areas are assisted by skilled attendants. Urban Moroccan women are three times more likely to receive prenatal care than are their rural counterparts. This suggests that maternal mortality in rural areas is much higher than in urban areas. A national maternal mortality study in Egypt also showed significant regional differences within the country (table 6).

MMRs in MENA countries increase along with the increase in urban-rural gaps in deliveries assisted by skilled attendants



(figure 10). This indicates that poor maternal care in rural areas is a factor that contributes to high MMRs.

Postnatal Care

Although prenatal care coverage has increased in most MENA countries, postnatal care coverage remains much lower (table 3). A mother may visit a health facility for consultation concerning her infant's health but will not often come for postnatal care for herself, and health personnel do not routinely visit mothers in their homes. Another reason for poor coverage of postnatal care in certain areas may be the cultural belief that women should stay home for a certain period of time following childbirth. Postnatal care provides an important opportunity to reduce reproductive morbidity, as well as to promote breastfeeding and family planning. Therefore, postnatal care should be encouraged more vigorously, especially when there are complications in the first one to two weeks after birth. When it is too difficult for women to come, health personnel should visit women in their homes.

Maternal Morbidity

Maternal morbidity, or the prevalence of pregnancy-related nonfatal illnesses, is difficult to evaluate accurately in developing countries. Based on the estimation that 40 percent of pregnant women experience pregnancy-related health problems, each year about 300 million women in the world suffer from pregnancy-related health problems and disabilities. Of these, 15 percent suffer serious or longterm complications.⁽²³²⁾ Therefore, one can calculate that 9 to 10 million women a year in MENA countries suffer from pregnancyrelated health problems, whether acute or chronic.

Both acute and chronic complications during pregnancy were often observed in MENA countries, as well as in other developing countries. Pregnancy-related illnesses can be categorized as follows:⁽⁷⁸⁾

• Short-term, acute complications directly related to pregnancy and the puerperium, such as bleeding, obstructed labor, pregnancy-induced hypertension (pre-eclampsia and eclampsia), ectopic pregnancy, and postpartum infection.

SUBREGION	MMR (PER 100,000 LIVE BIRTHS)
National Metropolitan governorates Lower Egypt Upper Egypt 3 Upper Egypt	174 233 132 217 323-471
5 opper Egyphan governorales (sonag, Assuit, Gena)	525-4/1

 Table 6. Maternal Mortality Ratios in Egypt, 1992–93

Source: 93.



- Long-term, chronic complications, such as vaginal fistulas, which may occur at the time of labor and delivery, or uterine prolapse, which may occur many years later.
- Associated illnesses, such as malaria and hepatitis, that either occur for the first time, or if already present, progress rapidly, because of reduced immune capacity during pregnancy.

Based on a community study in a developing country, it is estimated that there are 16 episodes of illness for every maternal death.⁽⁷⁸⁾ Another community study among relatively low-risk women indicated that 37 percent experienced some illness during pregnancy, 21 percent had difficulties during labor, and 6 percent experienced postpartum complications. Hospital studies in developing countries are available, but the studies do not consider long-term consequences, and the results may not be representative of the population as a whole. Morbidity can be even higher among women with higher risks, such as teenagers or multiparous women.

Minor complaints associated with pregnancy, such as nausea, vomiting, backache, and fatigue, are rarely addressed, because most research in developing countries focuses on measurable and potentially life-threatening illnesses such as hypertension and bleeding. In addition, women often do not recognize that some complications are actually illnesses. However, even the more minor conditions may significantly impair women's well-being and productivity.

Prevalence of low birthweight is another indicator of poor health among pregnant women, as low birthweight among newborn babies is primarily the result of the poor health and nutritional status of mothers during pregnancy.^(9, 35) Low birthweight prevalence rates of more than 10 percent have been observed in Egypt, Iraq, Lebanon, Syria, and Yemen (table 3).

A study conducted in rural Egypt showed that more than half of ever-married women between the ages of 14 and 60 years who were not pregnant at the time of the study suffered from various afflictions of the reproductive system, such as infections and genital prolapse (figure 11). These problems affect women's health, quality of life, and social status. For example, genital prolapse, which is caused by frequent deliveries, improper delivery management, and heavy physical workload, disturbs the daily life of women as it causes pain and infection and makes it difficult to urinate, defecate, and do daily physical work.

Abortion

Unsafe abortions, whether legal or illegal, cause the deaths of about 80,000 women worldwide each year, or about 13 percent of all maternal deaths.⁽¹⁹⁶⁾ When performed by qualified persons using correct techniques under sanitary conditions, induced abortion is a relatively safe surgical procedure, with a mortality rate of



around 0.6 per 100,000 procedures.⁽⁸⁾ However, complications such as bleeding, infection, and injury to the cervix and uterus due to improper practices sometimes cause deaths or long-term disabilities.

The estimated incidence of unsafe abortion is 130 per 1,000 live births in northern Africa and 110 per 1,000 live births in western Asia (figure 12). The estimated mortality ratios for unsafe abortion in Northern Africa and Western Asia are 24 and 20 per 100,000 live births, respectively. In both regions, the incidence and mortality ratio are lower than those in other developing regions, such as Sub-Saharan Africa, Asia, and Latin America. Studies in Egypt have



reported that mortality as a result of unsafe abortion ranges from 3 to 194 per 100,000 live births (table 7).

Approximately 8 percent of maternal deaths in the MENA region are the result of unsafe abortion (table 4, figure 4), which is lower than the corresponding figures for other developing regions.

Globally, when maternal mortality is lowered, unsafe abortion mortality accounts for an important proportion of maternal mortality. Thus, the low proportion may indicate that the overall number of maternal deaths, which are caused primarily by the improper management of pregnancies and deliveries, is still high in the MENA region.

Abortion is legally restricted in most MENA countries (table 8). In Tunisia, where abortion is legal, the incidence of unsafe abortion is very low. Although induced abortion cannot be performed in public health facilities in Egypt, studies in rural Egypt indicate that many women have had abortions performed by private physicians.^(52, 237) In Algeria, Islamic scholars may condone abortion as an option for women who are victims of terrorism.⁽²⁹⁾

Abortion is an issue too sensitive to discuss openly in the MENA region, as some people firmly object to abortion regardless of the reason for the procedure or the length of the pregnancy. Available statistics often do not even discriminate between induced abortion

			FREQ	FREQUENCY		ALITY
COUNTRY	LEVEL°	YEAR(S)	PER 1,000 LIVE BIRTHS	% OF PREGNANCIES	PER 100,000 LIVE BIRTHS	% OF ALL MATERNAL DEATHS
Iraq	S	1980	_	2.6		_
Syria	S	1973	_	7.9–11.6	_	_
Égypt	Ν	1992–93	_	_	8	_
0/1	S	1971–94	10–289	0.8-28.4	3–194	1.6–13.5
Algeria	Ν	1990–92	105	_	_	_
Iran	Ν	1972	_	15–25	_	_
	S	1973–74	108	7.4	_	_
Lebanon	S	1971-82	_	—	11	8.9
	S	1983–86	69	4.6	_	_
Libya	S	1984	197	15.4	_	_
Bahrain	Ν	1977–86	_	—	2	5.4
Israel	Ν	1980-83	83	6.8		—

Table	7.	Frequency	and	Mortality	of	Unsafe	Abortion
-------	----	-----------	-----	-----------	----	--------	----------

— Not available.

Note: Unsafe abortions are defined as abortions not provided through approved facilities and/or persons.

a. N = national; S = subnational. Source: 196. and spontaneous abortion (miscarriage), as women are often afraid to disclose the truth about how or why their pregnancy was terminated. Therefore, current figures on the incidence of unsafe abortion, as well as on its rates of mortality and morbidity, may not be accurate.

To reduce the risks of complications of abortion, easily accessible high-quality emergency services should be provided at all levels of the health care system. In most countries, however, emergency treatment for incomplete abortion is usually a surgical procedure that is available only in hospitals in major cities. In addition, family planning services are rarely offered to patients who have received emergency treatment, despite the obvious importance of linking the two types of care. Therefore, developing countries need

GROUNDS ON WHICH ABORTION IS PERMITTED						
	TO	TO			ECONOMIC	
TO SAVE	PRESERVE	PRESERVE	RAPE		OR	071150
WOMAN'S			OR			
	HLALIH	HLAUH	INCLUI	INTAINILINI	KLAJOINJ	KLQUL31
0						
0	0	0	0	0		
0						
0	0					
0	0	0	0			
0	0	0				
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0						
0						
0						
0	0					
0	0	0				
0	0			0		
0	0	0	0	0		
0						
0	0	0		0		
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
om O	0	0		0	0	
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0		0	
	TO SAVE WOMAN'S LIFE O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	TO SAVE WOMAN'S LIFE PRESERVE PHYSICAL HEALTH O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	GROUNDS ON WH TO SAVE PRESERVE PRESERVE WOMAN'S PRESERVE PRESERVE ILIFE PHYSICAL HEALTH O O O O <t< td=""><td>GROUNDS ON WHICH ABORTI TO TO TO TO SAVE PRESERVE PRESERVE RAPE WOMAN'S PHYSICAL MENTAL OR LIFE HEAITH HEAITH INCEST O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O</td><td>GROUNDS ON WHICH ABORTION IS PERMITT TO TO TO TO TO SAVE PRESERVE PRESERVE RAPE FETAL WOMAN'S PHYSICAL MENTAL OR FETAL LIFE HEALTH HEALTH INCEST IMPAIRMENT O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O</td><td>O O O CO CO</td></t<>	GROUNDS ON WHICH ABORTI TO TO TO TO SAVE PRESERVE PRESERVE RAPE WOMAN'S PHYSICAL MENTAL OR LIFE HEAITH HEAITH INCEST O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	GROUNDS ON WHICH ABORTION IS PERMITT TO TO TO TO TO SAVE PRESERVE PRESERVE RAPE FETAL WOMAN'S PHYSICAL MENTAL OR FETAL LIFE HEALTH HEALTH INCEST IMPAIRMENT O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	O O O CO CO

Table 8. Legal Conditions of Abortion

Source: 148.

to establish postabortion services at various levels of their health care systems, although it may be too sensitive to address safe abortion directly.

Postabortion care includes emergency treatment of incomplete abortion and potentially life-threatening complications, provision of family planning counseling and services, and links between emergency care and other reproductive health services.⁽⁵³⁾ Manual vacuum aspiration is an effective method of treating bleeding complications that can be provided in an outpatient setting by nurses and midwives using inexpensive, reusable instruments and equipment. The U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) supports establishing postabortion care in developing countries in partnership with nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). In the MENA region, the Population Council has piloted postabortion care in Egypt. Another important element in postabortion care is nondiscriminatory treatment. All too often, women seeking care for postabortion complications are met by negative staff attitudes. At ICPD in Cairo, therefore, it was agreed that the following should be provided to all women suffering from abortion complications: adequate medical treatment; family planning counseling and provision; and nondiscriminatory treatment.

Cesarean Section

Cesarean section is one of the most effective life-saving interventions and is considered a necessary component of EOC. The cesarean section rate is a useful indicator of availability of, access to, and use of services, as well as of the functioning of the health service system.^(98, 173) Acceptable levels for cesarean section are between 5 and 15 percent of all births in the population.⁴ Cesarean section rates are about 21 percent in the United States (1995), 13 percent in Japan (1996), and 10–15 percent in most developed countries.^(33, 100, 79) Unnecessary cesarean sections should be avoided, as the procedure carries substantial risk of injury, infection, and even death for the patient. Overuse of cesarean section also raises the costs of health care. Various factors have contributed to increased cesarean section rates: poor management of

pregnancy and delivery; fear of litigation; payment systems that provide incentives for performing cesarean sections; the misconception of cesarean section as being a "modern" method of delivery among patients of higher socio-economic status; and convenience for physicians and patients.⁽³⁴⁾ Cesarean section rates are abnormally high among Latin American countries (for example, 36 percent in Brazil).⁽²⁸⁾

The cesarean section rates in MENA countries where data were available are generally within the acceptable range, although slightly high rates were reported in Bahrain (table 9). This indicates that unnecessary cesarean sections due to social factors are relatively rare, even in the high-income countries in the region. The proportion of cesarean sections in tertiary care hospitals in Yemen was 7 to 10 percent,⁽²²²⁾ while the proportions in hospitals in other developing countries were higher, because these hospitals usually handle many high-risk emergency cases. This may indicate that, in Yemen, a significant number of cases that might have required cesarean section did not receive the proper intervention.

Fertility and Family Planning

Fertility

Although fertility has declined substantially in the MENA countries over the past 15 to 20 years, the region has the second-highest rate

MENA COUNTRY	% of total deliveries	OTHER COL	JNTRY	% of total Deliveries
Algeria Oman Bahrain UAE Kuwait	6.3 6.6 16.1 8.3 11.2	Brazil United States Scotland Japan	(1996) (1995) (1992) (1984) (1996)	36.4 20.8 14.0 7.3 12.6

Sources: 4, 6, 28, 33, 79, 100, 110, 136, 236.



36 • Reproductive Health in the Middle East and North Africa

of natural increase in the world, exceeded only by Sub-Saharan Africa. The TFR in the region is approximately 5, much higher than the global average of 3.2. Among the MENA countries, there are significant variations in fertility, ranging from a TFR of less than 3 in Iran, Israel, Lebanon, and Tunisia to almost 6 in Yemen, Saudi Arabia, and WBG (figure 13). The decline in fertility in the MENA region is due to the higher age of women at marriage, increased age at first childbirth, and increased use of contraception.⁽¹²⁵⁾

Worldwide, fertility generally declines as income levels increase, societies become more urbanized, demand for education and other social services increases, and changes occur in sociocultural factors that affect the status of women. Use of measures to control fertility increases with improvement in socioeconomic development, as couples realize that the cost of having children exceeds the economic contributions to the household that children made in the past.⁽²¹⁴⁾ Within a country, TFR is higher in rural areas and among lower socioeconomic groups. Reasons include a lack of awareness of the benefits of having a smaller number of children, the need for children as part of the agricultural labor force, the influence of various traditional values, and the lack of access to quality family planning services.

In the MENA region, the relationship between income and fertility is less clear-cut. TFRs of MENA countries are high in comparison to those of countries with similar income levels in other regions. TFRs of high-income and upper-middle-income MENA countries are comparable to TFRs of countries with much lower income levels in other regions. For instance, the TFR of the United Arab Emirates is similar to that of Bangladesh, while the TFR of Saudi Arabia is comparable to that of Mozambique.⁽²³⁰⁾ The TFR in Yemen is 1.5 times higher than Kenya's and more than twice that of Vietnam, yet the three countries have similar income levels.

In the MENA region, fertility decline started to occur in the early 1970s and accelerated considerably in the early to mid-1980s. In several countries, however, the pace of decline slowed in the 1990s (figures 14, 15). TFRs have remained relatively constant in Saudi Arabia and Israel, but have dropped precipitously in Iran and Libya. Although Yemen still has one of the highest TFRs in the world, it dropped by 1.2 in the last six years.

In examining global patterns of fertility decline, there are several factors that are consistently present: low infant and child mortality; high female literacy and education; and family planning that provides information and services for contraceptive methods.⁽⁵⁹⁾ It is difficult to determine a direct link between policy and demographic



change, and it is even more difficult to identify common factors that result in fertility transition. The availability of information and services will not induce individual couples to use contraception if they have a strong personal preference for a large family. But even without widespread use of contraception, fertility decline may occur due to broader changes in the social environment, such as increased education of girls, later age of marriage, improved employment opportunities for women, social security, and better health services to reduce infant mortality.⁽⁵⁹⁾ As seen in MENA countries, economic development and social change are not sufficient to achieve fertility decline; political commitment to ensure the adequate supply of services is also necessary.⁽²³⁴⁾



In Egypt, after fairly slow rates of fertility decline in the 1960s and 1970s, fertility began to drop rapidly in the mid-1980s. The rapid decline is attributed to an increase in age at marriage and to changing ideas about ideal family size, with the desire for fewer children leading to increased contraceptive use. Introduction of the intrauterine device (IUD) in Egypt also contributed to increased contraceptive use by making an effective and acceptable method available. During this period, infant and child mortality rates were also falling, making parents more confident that most or all children born to them would survive. Future fertility decline will require expanding access to education for girls, particularly in rural areas, and improvements in family planning programs.⁽³⁰⁾ The TFR in Jordan is currently 4.4, which is 40 percent lower than in 1976, when it was 7.4. Fertility reductions that occurred between 1976 and 1983 are attributable more to increased age at marriage than to contraceptive use, which was only 3 percent at the time. Since then, the pace of fertility decline has steadily increased: Fertility declined by 11 percent from 1976 to 1983, by 15 percent from 1983 to 1990, and by 21 percent from 1990 to 1997. Reduced fertility rates among women in younger age cohorts, increased age of marriage, increased education of females, and increased contraceptive use all contributed to lowering the TFR.^(38, 109)

Population Policy

At the World Population Conference in Bucharest in 1974, delegates from developing countries emphasized the importance of socioeconomic development in reducing population growth. Since that time, rapid population growth has been widely recognized as an obstacle to economic development, and national population policies have been formulated with that concern in mind.⁽⁵⁹⁾ Indeed, in outlining its national population strategy, the government of Yemen acknowledged rapid population growth as a national challenge and recognized the country's stagnating economic growth as a negative consequence.⁽²⁴⁾

Population growth increases the pressure on various sectors, such as health, education, food supply, water, sewage, housing, and the labor market. Such pressures diminish both economic and social progress, as the country is forced to allocate a significant amount of resources just to maintain the current level of services. For example, unless population growth is curbed in Egypt, it is estimated that the government will have to spend an additional US\$5 billion in the next 15 years just to maintain the current level of service in various sectors.⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ Water resources and arable lands in the region are also limited. In Yemen, current water supplies are low, amounting to a little over 134 cubic meters per capita each year, and the population may double in the next 20 years.⁽²²²⁾

Despite the recognition that population growth poses enormous challenges to socioeconomic development, fewer than half the

countries in the region have explicit policies to lower fertility. The governments of Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, Tunisia, and Yemen consider rapid population growth an obstacle to economic and social development and have adopted population policies that include fertility reduction among the objectives. By contrast, the governments of Iraq, Israel, and Kuwait want to increase fertility and use incentives such as child allowances to encourage large families. High-income and upper-middle-income countries, such as Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, and the UAE, have strong social welfare systems that are considered pronatalist.⁽¹²⁵⁾

Fertility reduction as an objective of population policy will be achieved if the desire for small families is widespread and family planning information and services are made widely available. Analyzing the various factors that contribute to fertility reduction, it is evident that achieving reduced population growth requires the commitment of multiple government ministries and the participation of many sectors of society. However, the level of coordination required to develop an effective population policy—one that would include requisite linkages to social security policy, inheritance, girls' access to education, and labor policies pertaining to women's employment is difficult to achieve. Thus, population issues are largely left to health ministries and vertical family planning programs.⁽⁵⁹⁾

Three main strategies to limit population growth have been identified. The first is the development of family planning programs that make information and services available. This effort has received considerable support from international donors since the 1970s. The second strategy encourages investment in human development in areas such as education, employment, and improvement in the status of women as a way to increase demand for smaller families. The third strategy promotes raising the age of marriage, increasing the age at first childbirth, and increasing intervals between births.⁽¹²⁵⁾

Family Planning

Population policies to reduce fertility are usually implemented through programs that provide contraceptive information and services, whether as vertical family planning programs or as more integrated reproductive health or maternal and child health (MCH) programs. In several MENA countries, organized family planning programs have contributed significantly to contraceptive availability and acceptability and therefore to fertility reduction.

Fertility reduction, in turn, contributes to reducing maternal and infant morbidity and mortality. Reducing the overall number of pregnancies reduces the risk of obstetric complications. Frequent births at short intervals often undermine the health status of both mothers and their children. Women typically cannot recover from health problems, such as anemia, before the next pregnancy. Particularly in the areas where early childbearing and closely spaced pregnancies are common and emergency obstetric services are scarce, people should be well informed of those risks and the benefits of family planning.⁽³⁰⁾

Spacing births at least two years apart can prevent almost one in four infant deaths in developing countries. The MENA region has the world's highest prevalence of short birth intervals,⁵ which have a significant impact on infant mortality in each country. In Yemen, the IMR is 131 per 1,000 live births for those born less than two years after a previous birth; this figure is more than twice as high as the rate for infants born after an interval of two to three years. In Egypt, the IMR is 129 per 1,000 live births for infants born after less than a two-year interval, versus 63 for infants with a two-to-three-year birth interval.⁽¹²⁵⁾ In Lebanon and Libya, an infant born after an interval of less than two years is two times more likely to die than one born after an interval of more than two years.^(114, 115)

The contraceptive prevalence rate of modern methods is only 10 percent in Yemen and less than 30 percent in countries such as Oman, Syria, and UAE (figure 16). The low use of modern contraceptive methods results from either a lack of access to or a lack of demand for family planning services. In MENA countries, the two primary reasons for not using family planning services and for discontinuing the use of contraceptives are the desire for another child and the fear of side effects (table 10). Discontinuation rates are high within



the first 12 months of use: 30 percent in Egypt, 49 percent in Jordan, and 40 percent in Morocco.

Unmet Need

The concept of unmet need was developed to help policymakers and family planning program managers assess the gap between women's stated desire to space or limit their pregnancies and their use of contraception. Among married women of reproductive age, unmet need for family planning⁶ is estimated to be 16 percent in Egypt and Morocco, 14 percent in Jordan, and 39 percent in Yemen.^(27, 38, 43, 82)

	DISCONTINUING USE (%)	;	NOT USING		CEPTIVE ME	THODS (%)	
REASON	EGYPT	EGYPT	YEMEN	SYRIA	ALGERIA	LEBANON	LIBYA
Fear of side effects/							
health concerns	39.0	8.0	10.0	7.0	16.0	12.0	10.0
Desire for another chi	ld 23.0	16.0		48.0	9.0	21.0	33.0
Became pregnant	13.0	_	_	_	_	_	_
Husband's refusal	2.0	3.0	16.0	15.0	11.0	8.0	6.0
Religious prohibition	s —	2.0	15.0	4.0	7.0	3.0	9.0
Inconvenient to use	2.0	0.6	3.0	_	0.5	11.0	5.0
Menopause/sterility	2.0	35.0	3.0	9.0	23.0	15.0	12.0
Opposed to family							
planning	—	0.9	2.0	2.0	2.0	4.0	0.6

Table 10. Reasons for Not Using/Discontinuing Use of

Contraceptive Methods

Sources: 26, 43, 110, 112, 114, 115.

Among the most common reasons for unmet need are inconvenient or unsatisfactory services, lack of information, fear of contraceptive side effects, and opposition from husbands, relatives, or friends.⁽²¹⁾ In Jordan, religion is often cited as restricting use of contraception. Although birth spacing is considered acceptable, family planning is often interpreted to mean birth limiting, which is seen as unacceptable for religious reasons. Jordanian women also feel pressured to produce children to please their husbands or mothersin-law.⁽⁴⁸⁾

The concept of unmet need has been expanded to also take into account current users of contraception who may have an unmet need for "appropriate contraception." A woman with an unmet need for appropriate contraception is one who is using an ineffective method, using a method incorrectly, using a method that is unsafe or unsuitable for her, or is dissatisfied with her method.⁽²¹⁾ The number of women who discontinue use of a method due to method failure could be considered a strong indicator of unmet need for appropriate contraception. In Jordan, where there is a strong preference for traditional over modern methods, ever-use of periodic abstinence and withdrawal are relatively high: 26 percent and 31 percent, respectively. The percentage of women who report discontinuing use of these methods due to method failure is also high: 50 percent and 39 percent, respectively.⁽³⁸⁾ Addressing the unmet need for appropriate contraception that the users of these methods have would require counseling and clear information on using the methods more effectively, or counseling about other contraceptive methods that would suit each woman's medical history, reproductive intentions, and personal preferences.

In measuring fertility planning, demographic and health surveys collect data about the status of prior births: whether a birth was planned (wanted then), unplanned or wanted later (mistimed), or not wanted at all (unwanted). Calculating what the TFR would be if unwanted births were avoided is a compelling indicator of potential demographic impact and how far programs need to go to serve the unmet need of the population. The demographic and health surveys demonstrated a significant discrepancy between the total wanted fertility rate and the current TFR (table 11). Thus, if unwanted births were eliminated and ideal fertility were achieved, TFR would be reduced by 71 percent in Yemen, more than 50 percent in Jordan, and 28 percent in Egypt.

Access and Quality

Lack of access to quality services is a major reason for unmet need, indicating that both access and quality issues must be addressed. Expanding the method mix, improving counseling, and strengthening the technical competence of providers are all essential for improving access and quality. Even where services are widely available, hard-to-reach groups, such as women living

	-	•
COUNTRY	TOTAL WANTED FERTILITY RATE	TOTAL FERTILITY RATE
Yemen	4.6	6.5
Jordan	2.9	4.4
Egypt	2.6	3.6

Table 11. Total Wanted Fertility Rate and Total Fertility Rate

Note: Based on the demographic and health survey of each country between 1995 and 1997.

Sources: 27, 38, 44.

in rural areas and women with little or no education, may need better access to services. In some areas where services are readily available, the poor quality of those services may reduce demand. In Egypt, 42 percent of contraceptive users obtained services outside their communities, citing lack of good services as the reason.^(21, 42)

Access to family planning implies both proximity to facilities and availability of contraceptive methods and information. Although physical access to facilities has improved, the contraceptive method mix available in many countries and individual facilities may need to be improved in order to provide adequate and appropriate method choices. Determining a method mix for a country must take into account demand for spacing births or for limiting births, physical health considerations, and socio-psychological considerations. Different methods are needed as women progress through their reproductive life cycles. Methods may be more appropriate for short- or long-term use, and women who are breastfeeding need access to methods that do not interfere with lactation.⁽⁵¹⁾

Attracting new clients and maintaining satisfied, continuous users requires that family planning programs offer high-quality services. Several elements of quality have been defined: they include access to a range of appropriate contraceptive methods; adequate counseling that responds to the client's concerns and allows her to make an informed choice; and technically competent service providers who adhere to accepted standards.⁽¹⁷⁾ A study in Jordan showed that a major factor in method continuation was whether the client obtained the method that she intended to use before going to the clinic.⁽⁴⁷⁾

In Egypt, three factors have been identified as being essential to improving contraceptive use and effectiveness. First, counseling must be improved so that clients know how to correctly use their selected method and are aware of other method options if a method proves unsuitable. Second, the method mix should be expanded to include methods compatible with breastfeeding for women who object to IUDs and coitus-related contraceptives. Third, IEC efforts should be aimed more at men, who are major decisionmakers about contraceptive use.⁽³⁰⁾ Use of modern contraceptive methods doubled in Egypt between 1980 and 1995, from 24 percent to 48 percent. The rapid rate of increase seen during the 1980s slowed in the 1990s. Introduction of the IUD accounts for most of the growth in contraceptive use since 1980; IUD use increased from 4 percent in 1980 to 30 percent in 1995 as a share of all modern contraceptive methods used. Use of injectables has been increasing since their introduction in the early 1990s, but pill use has declined from 13 percent of modern contraceptive methods used in 1992 to 10 percent in 1995.⁽³⁰⁾

Methods should be selected based on their appropriateness within the service delivery system. Introduction of Norplant could be considered by countries such as Oman, where there are effective tracking systems for notifying clients when the implant needs to be removed, skilled service providers and adequate facilities, and a national program with the resources to procure the commodities and insertion kits. Additionally, Norplant could be advantageous in Oman and elsewhere for effective long-term use in areas where religious beliefs limit use of permanent methods and where female clients who do not want to be seen by male health professionals for methods such as the IUD might accept being seen by male health professionals for a Norplant insertion.⁽¹³³⁾

Methods that affect menstrual bleeding patterns may result in women refusing to start or to continue using the methods. In the MENA region, where the population is predominantly Muslim, irregular menstrual bleeding may indeed have an impact on method use, as Muslim women are restricted from praying, performing some household duties, and engaging in sexual relations during menstrual periods. In Tunisia, about 40 percent of women included in an introduction study for a combined injectable, Cyclofem, discontinued use by one year due to menstrual disturbances.⁽⁴⁷⁾

Requirements for inappropriate or unnecessary examinations and tests, eligibility exclusions, and provider biases also serve to limit client access to methods. These obstacles can be improved by updating clinical guidelines and protocols, training staff in their use, and supervising staff according to the current guidelines. In Oman, the government removed a requirement that a specialist be seen
before beginning use of any contraceptive method, because this was recognized as a barrier to use.

Client-Provider Interaction

The treatment that clients receive from the staff of family planning clinics, be they clinicians, counselors, or receptionists, is a determining factor in whether clients are satisfied or dissatisfied with the service. Dissatisfaction and discontinuation are often the result of poor client-provider interaction. Conversely, client satisfaction is associated with effective and continued family planning use. Treating the client with respect, ensuring privacy during counseling, providing the client's preferred method, helping the client make an informed choice about a method that suits her reproductive intentions and her individual concerns and preferences, and giving the client clear information about correct use of the method and possible side effects are all elements of good client-provider interaction.⁽¹⁰¹⁾

Being able to communicate in a common language is also essential for good client-provider interaction. Several countries in the MENA region rely heavily on foreign contract workers for the provision of many health services, including family planning. In Oman, Arabic-speaking health educators provide family planning information to groups of women in clinic waiting areas. Individual counseling about specific methods is done by a nurse who may or may not be fluent in Arabic. Finally, a physician who probably does not speak Arabic fluently provides additional information on the client's chosen method. Clearly, the amount of information about method options, correct use, and potential side effects that is given by the service providers-and understood by the client—is determined by the ability of the providers to communicate in Arabic. Clinic staff and government officials recognize that clients generally respond more positively to Omani health personnel because there is no language barrier. There also seems to be a greater level of trust in the Omani health personnel who can address client fears and dispel rumors about family planning.(133)

Technical Competence

Ensuring that services are provided in a technically competent manner is basic to program quality. Technical competence implies that the staff possess both the knowledge and skills for providing contraceptive methods and other reproductive health services. Standardizing the practices of family planning services helps ensure the quality of the services. Development and use of service delivery guidelines and clinical protocols are important elements in the standardization of practices. Well-designed and applied clinical protocols help improve quality by specifying eligibility criteria for all methods, giving up-to-date information for use, instructing on infection prevention practices, and providing guidance on referral and follow-up procedures.⁽¹⁹⁾ Guidelines also provide standards for training of service providers, define the skills and knowledge needed by each type of provider, specify the content of training courses, and guide the revision of service delivery assessment and management tools.⁽⁶³⁾ Several MENA countries, including Egypt, Yemen, and Morocco, have developed service delivery guidelines and protocols. Disseminating and applying them and monitoring their use are critical. Revision of guidelines and protocols should be done approximately every three years to incorporate new information and changes in national policies.

Developing the technical competence for providing services more broadly requires training of health personnel. As preservice education in medicine, nursing, and midwifery have not usually included family planning or reproductive health, national programs have had to rely on in-service training to develop the requisite knowledge and skills. By preparing increased numbers of health personnel to provide family planning services, training aims to increase access to family planning as well as improve the quality of services. Training is often intended to provide existing health personnel with new knowledge and skills so that they can assume new tasks and responsibilities. In Yemen, the National Program to Expand Community Midwifery Training was established in 1997 and set to develop a curriculum and conduct a threemonth training of trainers (TOT) course. The program uses a performance-based curriculum and contains seven units: community health and nursing principles; prenatal care; labor and delivery; postpartum care; family planning and common gynecological diseases; child care; and management and supervision. The curriculum was needed to implement the national training program because no unified performance-based curriculum was available in Yemen.⁽⁹²⁾

In-service training is often needed when a new method or service is being introduced or when the knowledge and skills of health personnel need to be updated or strengthened to improve the quality of services. In Oman, three TOT courses were conducted to train 28 gynecologists in proper IUD insertion, counseling, and infection prevention.⁽¹³³⁾ An evaluation conducted approximately one year after the training showed that the trained health personnel were regularly collecting accurate medical, obstetrical, and menstrual histories of clients as well as information about current reproductive health problems. The health personnel properly performed physical and pelvic examinations and demonstrated acceptable skills in IUD insertion. They also provided post-insertion instructions and recorded the information. Infection prevention procedures, which were observed to be a serious problem prior to the training, also improved as a result of the training. Correct decontamination and sterilization procedures were followed, and health personnel used adequate aseptic technique for loading the IUD before insertion.

The experience in Oman may provide a useful example for other countries in the MENA region that also rely heavily on foreign workers for providing health services. Although these health professionals completed medical and nursing education and were licensed to practice before being offered contracts to work in Oman, many of them needed to have their family planning knowledge and skills updated through in-service training courses. Improving the skills of contract workers who may not remain in the country beyond their two-year contract represents a substantial and recurring financial investment for the government, but it is necessary to conduct such training if services are to be improved and the needs for family planning and reproductive health care of the local population met.

Pre-service education often does not include adequate preparation in family planning and reproductive health; however, efforts are underway throughout the world to revise the curricula of medical, nursing, and midwifery schools. In addition to curriculum reform, new teaching methodologies that rely less on lecture and allow for more practical learning are needed. In Morocco, the Faculty of Medicine in Rabat implemented a revised curriculum designed to strengthen clinical family planning and safe motherhood training.⁽¹⁶⁾ The nine-week rotation in obstetrics and gynecology for sixth-year medical students was reorganized and standardized through the use of a common set of modules. Faculty were trained in the use of a competencybased training approach for the rotation. An evaluation of the program assessed student readiness to provide family planning and safe motherhood services in their internship (seventh) year. Selecting five "sentinel skill areas,"7 the evaluation found that the majority of students were competent in each skill, and both students and faculty reacted positively to the training experience, especially in comparison to rotations in other areas. Findings of the evaluation point to the need to provide more hands-on practice with anatomic models and clients. While the results of the program are promising and were viewed positively by faculty, continued support is needed to consolidate and strengthen the program and to expand it to other departments.

Private Sector's Role

Access to family planning services has been increased through the participation of the private sector. Although the public sector provides the majority of family planning services in many developing countries, the private sector has become a key source for many clients. In Egypt, the private sector far exceeds the public sector in the provision of family planning services: 63 percent versus 36 percent, respectively. ⁽⁴³⁾ In both urban and rural areas, the private

sector is the major source for family planning services. Private doctors provide 34 percent of all IUDs, and private pharmacies provide 86 percent of oral contraceptives. One of the reasons that IUD clients choose private facilities is the perception of more competent staff and the availability of female physicians. Pill users cite proximity to their homes as an important reason for choosing private pharmacies.

In Jordan, also, the private sector is the largest provider of family planning services. Seventy-two percent of clients are served by the private sector, versus 28 percent by the public sector.⁽³⁸⁾ Fifty-two percent of pill users get pills from private pharmacies and 36 percent of IUD users are served by the Jordanian Association for Family Planning and Protection (JAFPP). A local affiliate of the International Planned Parenthood Federation, JAFPP is the major provider within the private sector. Physicians in private practice now serve proportionately fewer family planning clients than they did in 1983, when they served 35 percent of users. This shift away from private physicians may be due to the increased availability of services through other private outlets, such as pharmacies and JAFPP, as well as to the relatively high fees charged by private physicians.

Expanding the availability of products and services through the private sector will contribute to increased financing of and better access to quality family planning services. Several arguments can be made for increasing the role of the private sector. First, as family planning use expands, few governments will be able to meet the increasing financial costs. The private sector can provide the additional investment needed to satisfy growing demand. Second, the private sector already provides services to many poor people in both urban and rural areas, because they find access through private channels easier, more convenient, and comparable in cost, or because there is inadequate access to public sector services. And finally, higher-income users who can afford to pay for services should be encouraged to obtain family planning services from the private sector rather than the public sector, thus freeing public resources for those least able to pay.⁽³²⁾

Men

In much of the world and certainly in the MENA region, men play key roles in reproductive health and family planning. Traditionally, however, family planning services have focused on women, making them bear most of the responsibility for contraceptive use, despite having limited decisionmaking authority. Involving men as the partners of women as well as clients themselves is being recognized as an important objective for improving health and well-being.⁽²²⁾

Focusing on men as well as women is crucial to meeting unmet need, as many men have an unmet need for family planning. Unmet need for men is defined as wanting no more children but not using any contraceptive method. In Egypt, among husbands who said they did not want any more children, 66 percent were using some form of family planning while 34 percent were not.⁽¹²⁴⁾

Because men have such a strong influence on decisions concerning family size and use of contraceptive methods, improving communication between husbands and wives may be an important element in increasing family planning use. Discussion about family planning and use of family planning seem closely related. In Egypt, 79 percent of husbands said they had discussed family planning with their wives and 50 percent said they were using a method. More efforts are needed to inform men about the benefits of family planning. In the Minva governorate, a community mobilization campaign attracted nine percent of the population of reproductive age to participate in the campaign. As a result of attending one meeting conducted by the campaign, four out of five men said they had discussed family planning with their wives, friends, or a family planning worker. Sixteen percent of women seeking family planning services in a public facility said encouragement from their husband was the primary reason for their visit.⁽¹²⁴⁾

Postpartum and Postabortion Women

Postpartum women constitute a large percentage of the population with unmet need. Women who have recently given birth are likely to become pregnant again if they do not use contraception. A study conducted in 33 countries found that 17–22 percent of pregnancies occurred within nine months of a previous birth. One-third of women who are pregnant or amenorrheic, while not immediately at risk of becoming pregnant, are considered to have unmet need because their pregnancy was unintended or mistimed.

In 1983, the city of Sfax in Tunisia established a comprehensive postpartum program that scheduled appointments for a mother and baby together at 40 days postpartum. The visit included well-baby care, a postpartum checkup, and family planning. Between 1983 and 1987, the proportion of women returning to the hospital for the postpartum visit increased from 60 percent to 83 percent, and of those who returned, 56 percent accepted a family planning method. The success of the program was attributed to providing services to both mother and baby during the same visit and making the return appointment on the 40th day postpartum, which has cultural and religious significance.⁽⁹²⁾

Women who have just undergone an abortion are in critical need of family planning counseling and services and may need other reproductive health services as well, such as screening for STIs.

Breastfeeding for Fertility Reduction

Breastfeeding is a critical factor in reducing fertility and spacing births (box 1). Full or nearly full breastfeeding delays the resumption of ovulation and the return of the menstrual cycle. Lactational amenorrhea, which is the suppression of menstruation and ovulation due to breastfeeding, is associated with a decreased ability to become pregnant. The lactational amenorrhea method is 98 percent effective and can be used if a woman meets three eligibility criteria: (a) she is fully or nearly fully breastfeeding; (b) she is amenorrheic; and (c) her baby is less than six months old.

To prevent or postpone a subsequent pregnancy, a woman should begin using another contraceptive method (appropriate for breastfeeding) as soon as any one of the criteria is no longer met. Although breastfeeding does have a strong impact on fertility, breastfeeding alone does not provide a reliable means of contraception. In Jordan, 15 percent of women report ever using breastfeeding to avoid pregnancy, and 3 percent of current users rely on

Box 1. Bongaarts-Potter Model

Bongaarts and Potter developed a model that focuses on the four principal proximate determinants of fertility: marriage, contraception, induced abortion, and postpartum infecundability.⁽¹⁴⁾ Using historical populations and World Fertility Survey countries, they showed that the model predicts fertility well and explains 96 percent of the variation in the observed fertility rate. Biologically, the total number of children a woman would bear in the years of childbearing is relatively invariant among populations in the absence of contraception, induced abortion, breastfeeding, and postpartum abstinence. The number is estimated at 15.3. This model indicates that if one index goes down, the other index must go up to maintain the same fertility rate. The following formula shows the Bongaarts-Potter model:

TFR = Cm * Cc * Ca * Ci * 15.3

where:

Cm = Index of marriage (the proportion of women of reproductive age currently married, weighted by age-specific fertility rate).

Cc = Index of contraception (1 minus product of proportion currently using contraception among married women of reproductive age and average use-effectiveness of contraception adjusted by the factor for sterile couples).

Ca = Index of abortion (ratio of the observed TFR to the estimated TFR without induced abortion).

Ci = Index of postpartum infecundability (ratio of the average duration of birth interval with no breastfeeding to the average duration of birth interval with breastfeeding).

breastfeeding. During the first 12 months of use, however, more than 17 percent discontinued use of breastfeeding because they became pregnant. In Yemen, 20 percent of women report ever-use and 8 percent report current use of breastfeeding for birth spacing.

The lactational amenorrhea method might be appropriately introduced or expanded in the MENA region, particularly in countries where there is a preference for "traditional" or "natural" methods. Jordan has introduced the method and is in the process of expanding availability of the method through training of health personnel, revising the information system to incorporate the method in reporting contraceptive use, and using IEC to inform couples about the method and its correct use.⁽⁷²⁾

Even if lactational amenorrhea is not used as a family planning method, countries in which the duration of breastfeeding is long may benefit from the reduced fertility. Declines in breastfeeding, on the other hand, may result in increased fertility levels and decreased birth intervals. To maintain the current fertility level, increased use of contraception would be necessary if the duration of breastfeeding were to decline.⁽¹⁴⁾ This increase in use of contraception would require greater investment to expand family planning services in order to serve the additional women at risk of pregnancy.⁽⁵⁷⁾ For example, if duration of breastfeeding were shortened by 25 percent in Yemen, contraceptive prevalence would have to increase from 21

COUNTRY	TOTAL FERTILITY RATE	MEAN DURATION OF BREASTFEEDING (MONTHS)	CONTRACEPTIVE PREVALENCE (%)	CONTRACEPTIVE PREVALENCE NEEDED WITH 25% DECLINE° (%)	CONTRACEPTIVE PREVALENCE NEEDED WITH 50% DECLINE° (%)
Yemen	5.9	18.0	21	31	40
Egypt	3.3	18.8	54	61	66
Morocco	3.3	14.7	59	64	67
Jordan	4.4	13.2	53	58	61

Table	12.	Impact	of Bre	astfeeding	on	Fertility
-------	-----	--------	--------	------------	----	-----------

a. Contraceptive prevalence that would be required to maintain TFR if duration of breastfeeding were to decline 25 percent and 50 percent, calculated using the aggregate fertility model of Bongaarts and Potter. *Sources:* 14, 27, 38, 44, 82.

percent to 31 percent just to maintain the same TFR (table 12). TFR would go up if the contraceptive prevalence increased to any percentage less than 31 percent; to decrease the TFR, contraceptive prevalence would have to increase to more than 31 percent. Therefore, maintaining the duration of breastfeeding is important to continue lowering fertility.

Sexually Transmitted Infections and Reproductive Tract Infections

STIs cause various symptoms such as persistent pain and discharge, and have consequences that include infertility, irreversible damage to fetuses or infants, and death. Estimated STI prevalence in the MENA region was the second lowest among six developing regions (figure 17): Around 12 million people in the region suffer from STIs. The relatively low rates may be attributed to cultural values that are intolerant of sexual relationships outside of marriage. However, they may also reflect a lack of reliable reporting systems. STI cases in many MENA countries are largely under-reported, as blood and prenatal screenings are not routinely carried out, and effective STI surveillance systems have not been put into place.

The prevalence of syphilis among blood donors and pregnant women is relatively low, with the highest prevalence rates being around 1.5 percent in Jordan and Morocco (figure 18). In Yemen, rates determined from syphilis screening tests at various facilities ranged from 1.2 to 15 percent.⁽²²²⁾

RTIs include not only STIs but also infections caused by poor delivery management, unsafe abortion, and other factors. RTIs may be fatal (as in the case of serious puerperal infections), may cause infertility, and may significantly diminish both quality of life and productivity due to persistent pain and discomfort. Women often do not even realize they have an RTI that can and should be treated medically, because they consider these symptoms as something physiologically normal. A study in rural Egypt revealed that more than half of the women who participated in the study had symptoms of an RTI (figure 11).



HIV/AIDS

Although the number of reported AIDS cases is still relatively small, it has increased dramatically in the past seven years throughout the MENA region (figure 19). Only 391 deaths in the region had been reported by 1990, but the number increased sixfold, to 2,278, by 1997. Adult HIV prevalence is estimated to be between 0.005 percent and 0.18 percent among MENA countries (table 13). This prevalence rate is lower than that for countries in other developing regions including Sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America, and South Asia. The prevalence rate may be underestimated because of the lack of reliable surveillance systems.



The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), which opened a regional coordination office in 1998, reported the status of several MENA countries.^(139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 152) The total number of HIV-seropositive and AIDS cases in Egypt was 615. In Iran, the number was 1,344, and 69 percent contracted it as a result of intravenous drug use (HIV prevalence among drug users was 1.6 percent, while it was 0.0004 percent among blood donors). In Yemen, the cumulative number of HIV-seropositive and AIDS cases by 1997 was 155, with a male-female ratio of 5:1; about 45 percent of the cases involved transmission through sexual contact. HIV prevalence for various subgroups in Yemen was 1.5 percent among Yemeni applicants for work abroad; 0.05 percent among blood donors; 3.7 percent among STI patients; and 7



percent among commercial sex workers. Eight of 378 tuberculosis patients tested (about 2 percent) were HIV positive. Tuberculosis prevalence in Yemen is as high as 0.9 percent, so the increased prevalence of HIV/AIDS could result in a widespread form of highly contagious and drug-resistant tuberculosis.

The general public is largely unaware of high-risk behaviors and measures for preventing infection. Despite the moral standards, high-risk behaviors were observed in MENA countries. Although commercial sex workers are not culturally tolerated in most MENA

	ESTIMATES OF ADULT HIV	INFECTION (END 1997)	REPORTED	AIDS CASES
COUNTRY	ADULTS LIVING WITH HIV/AIDS	ADULT PREVALENCE RATE (%)	BY 1990	BY 1997
Yemen	900	0.010	1	82
Iraq	300	< 0.005	_	104
Syria	800	0.010	13	53
Égypt	8,100	0.030	27	168
Morocco	5,000	0.030	70	464
Algeria	11,000	0.070	_	_
Jordan	660	0.020	12	59
Iran	1,000	<0.005	19	194
WBG	_	—	5	29
Tunisia	2,200	0.400	77	340
Lebanon	1,500	0.090	24	98
Oman	1,200	0.110	37	151
Libya	1,400	0.050	5	17
Saudi Arabia	1,100	0.010	34	349
Bahrain	500	0.150	4	48
Qatar	300	0.090	52	88
Israel	2,100	0.070		—
UAE	2,000	0.180	8	8
Kuwait	1,100	0.120	3	26
Kenya	1,600,000	11.64		
Thailand	770,000	2.23		
Brazil	570,000	0.63		
United States	810,000	0.76		

Table	13.	HIV/	/AIDS	in	MENA	Countries
-------	-----	------	-------	----	------	-----------

— Not available.

Note: Adults are women and men 15–49 years of age. Sources: 154, 202, 205.

countries, they do exist in countries such as Egypt and Jordan. In Yemen, there are around 5,000 illegal commercial sex workers. Among a sample population in Jordan, 3 to 7 percent had sexual contacts outside of marriage, and 6 percent had homosexual contacts, but less than 50 percent used condoms. STI prevalence was about 7 percent among males. High-risk behaviors are likely to increase among those who are apart from their families, such as males drafted for military service and males who migrate from rural areas to urban areas, or from poorer countries to richer ones, in search of work.⁸ Those men may then transmit STIs to their wives upon returning home.

Box 2. Infection Prevention Practices in Clinical Settings

Practical preventive measures to reduce the risk of disease transmission must be taken in all clinical settings, including those where reproductive health services are delivered. Simple, inexpensive infection prevention practices have been used around the world. However, health care workers often mistakenly believe that expensive, high-tech equipment and facilities are needed or that simple practices, such as hand washing and use of protective gloves, are not very important. Medical practitioners made efforts to control infection, or to decrease postoperative and nosocomial infections, but did not pay much attention to infection prevention that emphasizes the safety of both clients and staff as quality-ofcare issues—until the global emergence of HIV/AIDS.

A comprehensive set of infection prevention practices, which can be used in any type of health facility regardless of its size and location, have been introduced through USAID-sponsored programs.⁽⁸⁵⁾ Since 1992, the recommended practices have been introduced to primary health care systems in 34 countries, including Egypt, Morocco, and Tunisia.

The infection prevention practices have two major objectives:

- To prevent major postoperative infections when performing any surgical or invasive procedures.
- To minimize the risk of transmitting serious infections such as hepatitis B and HIV/AIDS, not only to clients but also to health care staff, including cleaning and housekeeping personnel.

The principles of infection prevention are:

- Consider every person, both clients and staff, infectious.
- Wash hands—the most practical procedure for preventing person-to-person cross-contamination.

Infection prevention measures in clinical settings, such as treating used needles properly, wearing gloves, and so forth, are often lacking (box 2). Furthermore, donor blood is not routinely screened in many MENA countries.^(222, 226)

Adolescent Health

Adolescents often have an unmet need for family planning as well as for other reproductive health services. Lack of information about services or where to find them, fear of side effects, social taboos, and economic constraints all contribute to making family planning

Box 2. (Continued)

- Wear gloves before touching anything wet (broken skin, mucous membranes, blood, or other body fluids) or soiled instruments and other items.
- Use physical barriers, such as protective goggles, face masks, and aprons, if splashes or spills of any body fluids are anticipated.
- Use safe work practices, such as not recapping or bending needles, safely passing sharp instruments, and properly disposing of medical waste.
- Isolate patients only if secretions (airborne) or excretions (urine or feces) cannot be contained.

Contaminated instruments and other items are processed through the following recommended steps. First, decontaminate (soak in 0.5 percent chlorine solution for 10 minutes). Second, thoroughly wash and rinse. Third, sterilize (autoclaving at 121°C for 20–30 minutes, or dry heat at 170°C for 60 minutes), or alternatively, high-level disinfect (boil or steam for 20 minutes, or chemical soak for 20 minutes). unavailable to adolescents, even those who are married. Among married young women ages 15 to 19 in Egypt and Morocco, 15 and 12 percent, respectively, have an unmet need for family planning.⁽¹³⁰⁾

It is very difficult for adolescents, particularly those who are unmarried and not in school, to obtain reproductive health information and services. For example, many unmarried Jordanian youth are believed to be sexually active, but they often do not know how to avoid high-risk behaviors. NGOs, international agencies, and governments have started adolescent health programs that are intended to educate youths about risky behaviors and raise their self-esteem. Youth peer-counselor training programs have been created in several countries, such as WBG.⁽²²⁶⁾ Youth programs are also planned in Jordan and Syria in partnership with UNAIDS.

Early Marriage

High teenage fertility in MENA countries is a result of the high incidence of early marriage, because sexual relationships outside of marriage are culturally unacceptable. The legal age of marriage for women is younger than 18 years in some MENA countries (table 14). Marriage before 20 years of age is still common in MENA countries (figure 20). Approximately 60 percent of married women under age 24 in Yemen and Oman were married before age 20. The proportions of teenage marriage among women younger than 24

COUNTRY	LEGAL AGE OF MARRIAGE	MEDIAN AGE OF MARRIAGE	MEDIAN AGE AT FIRST BIRTH
Yemen	—	16.5	19.5
Egypt	16	19.7	21.4
Morocco	Parental consent required	20.2	22.7
Jordan	16	21.5	23.2
WBG	—	18.0	20.0
Tunisia	17	_	_
Israel	17	_	_
Kuwait	15	—	—

Table 14. Legal Age and Median Age of Marriage

— Not available.

Sources: 27, 38, 44, 82, 150.



are greater than 40 percent in Egypt and around 20 to 30 percent in most other MENA countries. These figures are much lower than those for previous generations of women in the MENA region: Approximately 70 to 90 percent of women currently between the ages of 45 and 49 years were married before the age of 20. Therefore, women's age at marriage has risen significantly in the past two decades. This rise can be attributed mainly to increased levels of female education, other sociocultural changes, and overall economic development. In fact, recent declines in fertility in some MENA countries can be attributed to changes in marriage patterns.

Age-specific fertility rates for women in Yemen, Oman, and Libya between the ages of 15 and 19 years are twice the global average (figure 21). About 1.6 million girls in the region are married before



age 20, and every year about 900,000 babies are born to teenage mothers. Due to social pressures, young women hope to get pregnant as soon as they are married, for a woman's status in her family is usually enhanced and stabilized as a result of having children.

Pregnancy and childbirth carry higher risks of complications and mortality for teenage mothers and their infants than for women over 20 years of age. Research in both developing and industrial countries shows that teenagers have higher rates of pregnancyinduced hypertension, anemia, and low-birthweight babies.⁽⁹⁶⁾ Maternal mortality among teenagers in developing countries is higher than among older women, and infant mortality is higher among infants born to teenage mothers. Postabortion complications are also treated later in teenagers in countries where abortion is illegal.

On one hand, these higher risks are more attributable to socioeconomic and behavioral factors (including lack of prenatal care, marital instability, poverty, low educational attainment, and so on) than to biological factors. On the other hand, in developing countries where women's physical development is slower, their risks of pregnancy are heightened. Physically immature girls may compete with the fetus for essential nutrients; cephalopelvic disproportion and prolonged labor may occur due to pelvic bone immaturity. Higher rates of premature and low-birthweight babies born to teenage mothers result in higher perinatal and infant mortality. For example, in Libya, the mortality rate for infants born to teenage mothers is twice that for infants born to mothers in their twenties.⁽¹¹⁴⁾

Female Genital Cutting

FGC is the practice of excising a part of the genitalia of young girls. This practice causes complications, including infection and bleeding, as well as psychological trauma. The international community has continued to condemn FGC in various forums, including the 1994 ICPD in Cairo and the 1995 Fourth U.N. World Conference on Women in Beijing. However, FGC is still practiced in 40 countries around the world, primarily in African countries. MENA countries are adjacent to countries where FGC is highly prevalent, such as Djibouti, Ethiopia, Somalia, and Sudan.

FGC is almost universal in Egypt. It is practiced on a smaller scale in the coastal areas of the Arabian peninsula, including Yemen, Oman, and Saudi Arabia, and is also practiced among Ethiopian descendants in Israel.^(66, 134, 187, 188) It is not likely that FGC finds its roots in Islamic or other religious beliefs, as FGC is not practiced in strictly Islamic countries such as Iran, whereas it is practiced widely among Egyptians, regardless of their religious affiliations. Rather, FGC is based on local traditions.

Approximately 98 percent of Egyptian women have undergone FGC (type 1 or type 2). There are no significant variations in agespecific rates, indicating that FGC prevalence is not decreasing (table 15). There is no significant difference in the FGC prevalence rates of urban and rural areas; however, urban women are less willing to support this practice than are rural women. FGC prevalence does decline slightly as women's education levels increase. Although most women without any education support the practice, only slightly more than half of women with a secondary education support it.

In Yemen, FGC is observed among Somali and Ethiopian descendants in coastal areas such as Hudaydah and Aden. According to a recent demographic and health survey, FGC prevalence in Yemen was 23 percent (table 15). The prevalence reached about 70 percent in coastal regions.

In Egypt, FGC is usually performed on a girl when she is between the ages of 6 and 12 years. Occasionally, several girls in the same community will undergo the procedure at the same time. FGC

		% OF WOMEN WHO HAVE UNDERGONE FGC	% OF WOMEN WHO SUPPORT THE PRACTICE
Egypt			
Age	15–19 years	98	85
•	20–29 years	98	83
	30–39 years	96	80
	40–49 years	97	81
Residence	Urban	94	70
	Rural	100	91
Education	No education	99	93
	Primary/secondary	98	77
	Completed secondary	90	57
Yemen			
Age	15–49 years	23	
Residence	Urban	26	
	Rural	22	
	Coastal	69	
Subregion	Mountainous	15	
C C	Plateau and desert	5	

Table	15.	Female	Genital	Cutting
-------	-----	--------	---------	---------

Sources: 27, 43.



is regarded as one of the rites of passage necessary for a girl to become a woman.⁽⁷¹⁾ Therefore, girls usually feel happy and proud when their time comes to undergo the procedure (figure 22). However, unlike festivities for boys, FGC is generally accompanied by only a modest celebration. As seen in various studies, the majority of women have positive attitudes toward the continuation of FGC, viewing it not only as a good tradition, but also as a necessity in practicing proper hygiene.

FGC is usually performed by TBAs or barbers, neither of whom has the necessary medical qualifications for conducting surgical procedures, and often takes place under unhygienic conditions. FGC procedures constitute an important source of income for these practitioners. Some physicians perform FGC in their private practices, although this is legally prohibited.

The Egyptian government recently succeeded in banning the practice, despite the fact that the Supreme Court had overturned the government's previous attempt. It is not likely that the eradication of FGC will be achieved easily or soon, for even though FGC is legally banned, a majority of Egyptians nevertheless believe in continuing the practice. Many Egyptians, including some scholars, consider FGC to be a religious requirement. National and international NGOs have long been working for the eradication of FGC through dialogue with community members.⁽⁶⁶⁾

Nutrition

Major nutritional issues in the region include child malnutrition; anemia among women and children; iodine deficiency disorders; vitamin D deficiency among small children and women; and obesity and diet-related noncommunicable diseases.⁽⁹⁾ Children and women of reproductive age are most at risk of nutritional deficiencies, as they require additional nutrients for growth and reproduction.

Moderate to high levels of child malnutrition, or a stunting prevalence of more than 20 percent, has been observed in several countries, especially in rural areas (table 1). The prevalence of malnutrition is comparable for both girls and boys. However, girls' malnutrition is more likely to have long-term negative impacts. Stunted girls grow up to be short women, and short women are more likely to suffer from obstetric complications due to contracted pelvis, which may endanger the lives of both mother and child.

Low birthweight prevalence rates of more than 10 percent were observed in Egypt, Iraq, Lebanon, Syria, and Yemen (table 1). Low birthweight is mainly attributable to the poor health and nutrition status of pregnant women. The incidence of low birthweight is higher among mothers who are short, undernourished, or anemic. Infants with low birthweight die more frequently during infancy, and if they survive, are more likely to suffer from stunting. In addition, several epidemiological studies have shown that fetal malnutrition increases susceptibility later in life to chronic diseases such as hypertension and diabetes mellitus.

Exclusive breastfeeding for up to six months is internationally recommended. Breastfeeding also assists in postpartum recovery, inhibits ovulation, and causes postpartum amenorrhea through hormonal feedback systems; therefore, it functions as a natural contraception method. However, at most only around half of mothers in MENA countries exclusively breastfeed their infants (table 16). The duration of breastfeeding is gradually declining in most countries, especially in urban areas. In addition, there are numerous traditional beliefs and attitudes that negatively affect breastfeeding practices.

Iron deficiency anemia is a common problem throughout the world, particularly among children and women of reproductive age. Anemia is common among women and children throughout the MENA region regardless of income level; the incidence in Kuwait is similar to that in Egypt and WBG (table 17).

Risk factors of anemia for women include high fertility, short birth intervals, poor maternal health care, an unbalanced diet, and lack of nutritional knowledge. Anemia among children under five years of age is caused by poor feeding practices, childhood illnesses such as diarrhea, and mothers' anemia during pregnancy and lactation. Women with lower incomes in rural areas are the highest-risk group, because they have less diversified diets and lack access to regular health care. Coverage of and compliance with iron supplementation regimes are often problematic. Women who do receive prenatal care may avoid taking iron supplements because they can cause stomach discomfort, and some women believe that the iron pills cause abortion or excess enlargement of the fetus.

Anemia during pregnancy increases the risk of maternal mortality, as it lowers both tolerance of blood loss and resistance to infection. Although 25 percent of maternal deaths are due to bleeding and 15 percent are due to infection, anemia is a contributing factor in one-quarter to almost all maternal deaths.^(185, 193) Frequent pregnancies at short intervals impede recovery from the worsened nutritional status incurred during pregnancy and lactation. A young girl's anemia worsens after adolescence, and if she becomes pregnant, her baby will have low birthweight and anemia; the mother's health will deteriorate as well.

COUNTRY	EVER BREASTFED (%)	EXCLUSIVELY BREASTFED (<6 MONTHS) (%)	BREASTFED WITH COMPLEMENTARY FOODS (6–9 MONTHS) (%)	MEDIAN DURATION OF ANY BREASTFEEDING (MONTHS)
Yemen	97	18	79	18
Syria	92	13	60	13
Egypt	95	56	78	19
Morocco	95	25	61	15
Algeria	93	5	50	10
Jordan	95	11	68	13
Iran	98	56	84	22
Tunisia	94	5	70	14
Lebanon	88	12	38	7
Oman	99	28	85	19
Libya	91	6	42	8
Bahrain	97	_	69	15
UAE	93	_	52	12

Table 16. Breastfeeding Patterns

Source: 86.

The major dietary source of iron in MENA countries is cereal, but unlike heme iron in animal products, the nonheme iron in cereals is poorly absorbed. Much of the anemia in MENA countries can be prevented by diversifying diets to include animal products, fruits, and leavened bread, and by avoiding consuming tea with meals. Furthermore, iron fortification of staple foods such as wheat flour and bakery products is a sustainable and equitable way to cover the entire population.

Iodine deficiency disorders remain a serious public health issue, and very high total goiter rates were reported in Iran, Syria,

	ANEMIA PREVALENCE (DATA FROM SUBNATIONAL SURVEYS BETWEEN 1980 AND 1996) 1981 AND 199								
	CHILDREN			REPRODUCTIVE-		CHILDREN			
INCOME	UNDER	SCHOOL-AGE	PREGNANT	AGE		AGES			
LEVEL AND	AGE 5	CHILDREN	WOMEN	WOMEN	MEN	6-11			
COUNTRY	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)			
Low-income									
Yemen	17–66	—	—	5–36	—	32.0			
Lower-middle	·income								
Iraq	—	—	—	18	—	7.3			
Syria	53	—	49–52	30	_	73.0			
Egypt	23–90	22–45	21–79	17-71	_	5.2			
Morocco	27–47	_	20–40	_	_	20.0			
Algeria	_	_	42	19–42	_	8.5			
Jordan	34	_	25–46	4–23	_	_			
Iran	>30	_	20–50	—	_	30.0			
WBG	58–76	40–67	23–56	28–44	_	_			
Tunisia	30	—	41	_	_	4.3			
Lebanon	—	—	49	27	_	15.0			
Upper-middle	income								
Oman	40–67	31–78	49–54	15–48	3–24	10.0			
Libya	—	—	—	6	—	6.3			
Saudi Arabia	36–37	26–55	5–57	—	30–56	—			
Bahrain	30–39	21–42	—	40–49	20	—			
High-income									
Qatar	26	—	30	—	_	—			
Israel	44–71	—	10–32	18–61	—	—			
UAE	28–76	8–95	22–62	—	—	—			
Kuwait	—	13–26	40	42	34	—			

Table 17. Anemia and Iodine Deficiency Disorders

Sources: 75, 105, 106, 182, 185, 186.

Yemen, and the New Valley area in Egypt (table 17). The most visible result of iodine deficiency is goiter, the enlargement of the thyroid gland visible as a swelling in the front of the neck. Iodine deficiency disorders in pregnant women may cause irreversible damage to fetuses and infants, such as congenital anomalies and cretinism. Therefore, there is an urgent need to treat iodine deficiency disorder among reproductive age women. Many MENA countries have started universal salt iodization programs to eliminate this public health problem.

Vitamin D deficiency has been reported in several countries, including Iran, Kuwait, Libya, Morocco, Saudi Arabia, WBG, and Yemen.⁽⁹⁾ This condition causes rickets in children, as well as osteomalacia and, in extreme cases, bone fractures in adults. Vitamin D deficiency in MENA countries is due to the low intake of dietary vitamin D included in animal foods, as well as to lifestyles and habits that keep people out of the sunlight: for example, living in dark houses, wrapping infants for long periods, and the wearing of thick, dark veils by women. Young unmarried women are particularly at risk, as they tend to be thoroughly covered. In fact, bone pains and fractures were reported among young women. Mothers of infants with rickets had low vitamin D serum levels, and prolonged breastfeeding increased the risks, as breast milk is the major source of vitamin D for infants. Although rickets can be treated with sufficient exposure to sunlight, disturbed bone growth may irreversibly damage the development of the skeleton, and underdeveloped pelvises among women may lead to a higher frequency of obstetric complications.

	• •	I LIVIALE (70)	OECD COUNTRY	MALE (%)	FEMALE (%)
Kuwait	32.0	44.0	United States	19.7	24.7
UAE	16.0	38.0	England	15.0	16.5
Bahrain	9.5	30.3	Netherlands	8.4	8.3
Saudi Arabia	16.0	24.0	Japan	1.8	2.6
Iran	2.5	7.7	·		

Table 18. Obesity Prevalence (most recent data between 1993 and 1996)

Source: 197.

Obesity and excess fat intake are problems in the region, particularly in high-income countries, in urban areas, and among women (table 18). Obesity increases the risk of diet-related noncommunicable diseases, such as coronary heart disease and diabetes mellitus. Obesity prevalence is much higher among women than among men. Obesity and diet-related noncommunicable diseases increase the risk of complications during pregnancy and delivery, and therefore increase both maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality. Sedentary lifestyles, particularly for those who are urban and affluent, increase the risk. High obesity prevalence among women may be partially due to the tradition that women tend to avoid physical exercise.

Other Reproductive Health Issues

Uterine, Ovarian, and Breast Cancers

A major cause of uterine cervical cancer is infection with certain strains of the human papilloma virus, which can be transmitted sexually. Obesity is one of the risk factors of breast cancer and uterine corpus cancers; therefore, the prevalence rates of these cancers generally increase as the epidemiological transition takes place. However, compared with other regions, the incidences of uterine, ovarian, and breast cancers in the MENA region remain significantly low (table 19).⁽²²⁶⁾

Table 19. Breast, Uterine, and Ovarian Cancer Incidence

TYPE OF CANCER	MIDDLE EASTERN CRESCENT°	ESTABLISHED MARKET ECONOMIES	SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA	LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN	WORLD
Breast cancer Uterine cervical can Uterine corpus cance Ovarian cancer	7 cer 4 er 2 2	66 5 17 9	8 14 2 3	20 14 7 3	20 9 6 4

(per 100,000 population)

a. Includes Central Asian countries. *Source:* 102.

Infertility

Approximately 10 percent of couples worldwide experience some type of infertility problem, which might be attributed to the female, the male, or both.⁽⁴⁵⁾ Infertility is an especially serious issue for women in the MENA region, given the high cultural value of fertile women. A woman's status in a family is enhanced when she gives birth to a child, particularly a son. As soon as they are married, women find themselves under enormous social pressure to have a child, and women are usually blamed for a couple's failure to conceive, regardless of what the real reason might be. Therefore, women often seek assistance if they have not become pregnant within a couple of months after marriage, and they are willing to pay dearly for any such treatment. This attitude encourages technically ineffective and hazardous treatments, such as the misuse of ovulation-inducing agents and unnecessary therapeutic laparoscopy. Even advanced assisted reproductive technologies such as in vitro fertilization are available in MENA countries.⁽²²⁶⁾ It is urgent that standard protocols for infertility treatment be established quickly in order to control the quality of care, protect clients' well-being, and contain the costs of medical care.

Postmenopausal and Elder Women

In the MENA region, where the population is relatively young, there is not yet widespread knowledge about the health issues of postmenopausal and elder women. Because life expectancy is increasing and fertility has declined in recent years, the region will probably begin to face problems that are characteristic of an aging population in the near future.

The status of elder women in a family is usually strong, as long as they have sons.⁽¹³¹⁾ Elder mothers are respected by other family members and participate in the decisionmaking process for issues such as contraceptive use by daughters-in-law and the FGC of granddaughters. However, unmarried elder women and childless women are unlikely to enjoy this high status and are more likely to be neglected when they experience health problems.

Refugees and Internally Displaced Women

There is growing recognition that women who have been displaced because of disasters or civil conflicts have particular reproductive health needs.^(31, 67) It is estimated that about 80 percent of the 40 million refugees and internally displaced people worldwide are women and children. Humanitarian relief and assistance programs have begun to address the needs of these women, who are at risk for unsafe delivery, lack of prenatal care, exposure to STIs including HIV/AIDS, unwanted pregnancy, unsafe abortion, and the physical and mental trauma of sexual assaults. Although these reproductive health problems sometimes threaten the lives of women and often damage their physical and mental health, for many years relief agencies concentrated only on immediate basic needs such as water, food, shelter, security, and general PHC services.

Aid workers try to provide reproductive health services such as obstetric care and emergency contraception. However, service standards are often inconsistent from camp to camp, and service provision is often interrupted due to the cyclical nature of the refugee experience: leaving home, living in camps, returning home, and rebuilding their lives. Moreover, many refugees remain in their "temporary" living status for a very long time (for example, Palestinian refugees have been in Lebanon for 50 years). Therefore, aid workers advocate providing women refugees with systematic and consistent reproductive health services.

Significant numbers of refugees and internally displaced peoples are present in the MENA region, including Palestinian refugees, Iraqi refugees, and Western Saharan refugees. The situations of displaced people vary, depending on the length of displacement, policies of host countries, relief programs, and aid agencies.

Palestinians are one of the largest refugee groups in the world. The United Nations Relief and Work Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East (UNRWA) provides services, including health and education, to the Palestinian refugees in WBG, Jordan, and Lebanon. UNRWA in Gaza has been providing family planning services as a part of its reputable PHC services since 1990, which was four years before the Palestinian Ministry of Health began providing family planning services there.⁽²²⁶⁾ Many NGOs have also been actively providing reproductive health services in WBG. Some NGOs provide high-quality comprehensive reproductive health services that include family planning, MCH, STI management, cervical cancer screening, and health education. Since 1994 the total fertility rate in Gaza, including both refugee and non-refugee women, declined from 7.4 to 6.0, indicating the high demand for and increasing supply of family planning services.

Palestinian refugees in Lebanon are in a different situation. There are currently 350,000 Palestinian refugees living in 12 camps in Lebanon administered by UNRWA. UNRWA, Palestinian Red Crescent Society, and Popular Aid for Relief and Development provide health services to them. UNRWA's services include MCH and family planning, while Popular Aid for Relief and Development provides MCH, family planning, and HIV/AIDS education. Clinics run by these groups offer pills, condoms, and spermicides; IUDs are available in some clinics. Despite the availability of services, Palestinian women in Lebanon have high fertility rates. In a survey, only 22 percent of women with four or more children said they wanted that many; 92 percent said they approved of family planning, but only 43 percent said they had used or were currently using a contraceptive method. In 1996, UNRWA in Lebanon had only 4,524 registered family planning users, thus the contraceptive prevalence rate can be roughly estimated to be 14 percent among married women of reproductive age.(119)

Gender and Marriage

Consanguineous Marriage and Hereditary Diseases

Consanguineous marriage is commonly practiced throughout the region: The incidence ranges from 30 to 60 percent (figure 23). Marriage between paternal first cousins is considered to be the most desirable form. Consanguineous marriages are usually stable,



as they enhance family ties and secure family property; they may also bestow social and cultural benefits. However, these marriages increase the risk of hereditary diseases that are endemic in the region (table 20).

For instance, the rates of hemolytic anemia caused by Glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency and thalassemia, sicklecell anemia, and congenitalhypothyroidism are relatively high in the MENA region. Genetic counseling before marriage would be necessary in order to prevent them. However, cultural sensitivity should be taken into consideration when these issues are addressed.

			HEMOGLOBIN [S					CONGENITAL HYPO-	CYSTIC	PHENYL-
		CAR	RIERS		NEWBORNS	S AFFECTED	SICKLE CE	LL DISEASE	G6PD	THYROIDISM	FIBROSIS	KETONURIA
	HBS	HBC	B-THALASSEMIA	TOTAL		(PER 1,000	AFFECTED	CARRIERS	DEFICIENCY	(PER 1,000	(PER 1,000	(PER 1,000
COUNTRY	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(PER YEAR)	BIRTHS)	(%)	(%)	(%)	BIRTHS)	BIRTHS)	BIRTHS)
Yemen	4	_	2	6	1,571	2	_	_	_	_	_	_
lraq	0–20	_	3	6	1,501	2	1.7	16.0	9–13	_	+	+
Syria	1	_	5	6	1,043	2	_	_	_	_	_	_
Egypt	_	_	3	3	808	0	_	_	4–26	0.33	0.380	+
Morocco	2	2	3	7	1,824	2	_	_	_	_	_	_
Jordan	1	_	3	4	97	1	_	_	5–13	_	0.390	_
Iran	1	_	1–12	4	1,896	1	_	_	18–23	0.71	+	0.116
WBG	1	_	3	4	54	1	_	_	_	0.40	+	_
Tunisia	2	+	3	6	390	2	_	_	2–7	_	_	_
Lebanon	1	_	3	4	70	1	_	0.3	3	_	+	_
Oman	5	_	1	6	128	2	0.4	6.1	12-27	0.45	_	_
Libya	2	1	1–2	4	166	1	_	_	3	_	_	_
Saudi Arabia	1–25	+	2	10	2,845	5	1.4	13.1	3–22	0.37	0.236	_
Bahrain	10	_	3	13	126	9	2.1	11.2	21–26	_	_	_
Qatar	3	_	3	6	16	2	_	_	_	_	_	_
UAE	2	_	3	5	46	1	_	_	_	_	_	_
Kuwait	+	—	+	4	47	1	—	—	20–22	—	+	—

Table 20. Prevalence of Hereditary Diseases in MENA Countries

— Not available.

+ Cases reported (unknown frequency).

Sources: 7, 40, 183.



Polygamy

Although polygamy is becoming less tolerated in recent generations, it is legally practiced among Muslims. A man is allowed to marry up to four wives under the condition that the wives are treated equally in all respects. The proportion of women between the ages of 25 and 29 engaged in polygamy is about 10 percent in UAE and Oman, and about 5 percent in Algeria, Kuwait, and Morocco. This proportion increases for the higher age categories, reaching as high as 20 percent for women between the ages of 45 and 49 in Kuwait (figure 24). The proportion decreases as women's education levels increase (figure 25), and is lower among women living in urban areas. Despite the fact that some modern societies are less tolerant of polygamy than in the past, women are often afraid that their



husbands will take another wife; therefore, they often opt to discontinue contraceptive use and attempt to have more children.

Violence against Women

Various types and degrees of domestic violence against women occur in MENA countries. The most extreme case would be the murder of a woman by a male family member because she has committed an "honor crime." As cultures in the MENA region place a high value on virginity, a woman who is suspected of having a sexual relationship before marriage or of engaging in acts of adultery would be killed by her father or brother in order to protect the honor of her family.^(66, 71, 226) The murderers are rarely prosecuted. Domestic violence related to substance abuse, such as qat abuse in Yemen,⁽²²²⁾ is also known. Traditional rituals such as FGC can also be considered violence against women and girls. NGOs, in partnership with governmental offices of women's affairs, actively advocate the resolution of these issues.

Women's Status and Other Social and Cultural Factors

Women's status is mainly determined by local cultures and traditions, which vary according to economic, social, and political circumstances. The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) reported that women's participation in key economic and political areas and decisionmaking processes remained low in most MENA countries, regardless of the country's income level.⁽¹⁵⁸⁾ The adult literacy rates for females in many MENA countries are less than 60 percent and are much lower than those for males. Secondary school enrollment rates for females are less than 60 percent in approximately half of the countries. Overall, women constitute about 15 percent of the economically active population in MENA countries.⁽¹⁴⁹⁾

Women's status in society has significant repercussions on the health of the population as a whole. Increased levels of women's education have positive impacts, including reduced fertility and improved children's health and nutrition.(222) Various sociocultural constraints prevent women from making decisions about accessing health services. Even when health services are accessible, women may not use the services because husbands and mothers-in-law usually make the decisions. Community or religious leaders also exert a strong influence regarding whether or not community members should utilize family planning and other health services. Some women in Yemen, particularly in rural areas, are not permitted to receive health services without being accompanied by male family members, nor can they be examined by male health personnel. Therefore, the absence of male family members and the lack of female personnel at health facilities can be major obstacles to receiving care. Lack of awareness of health problems is also a reason for not seeking care. Women sometimes do not recognize their problems as symptoms of curable
diseases. For example, women often bear pain, discomfort, and discharge—the symptoms of RTIs—because they consider them to be normal and inevitable occurrences, perhaps signs of aging.

Traditional beliefs and customs often exert a much stronger influence over people's decisionmaking than does legal enforcement. For instance, despite the legal ban, people continue to practice FGC, because they believe that FGC is a good tradition and are unaware of its health hazards. People are often reluctant to seek care for health problems caused by behaviors that go against moral standards. For example, because abortion is culturally unacceptable and legally prohibited in most MENA countries, women sometimes attempt to terminate unwanted pregnancies secretly, using procedures that may result in life-threatening complications. Seeking treatment for STIs may also stigmatize women. Because unmarried youth are not supposed to be sexually active, they cannot openly seek reproductive health information and services, and thus they may not be able to avoid high-risk behaviors.

Correlation with Socioeconomic Factors

Income Levels

Global experience shows that increased income correlates with improved health status and decreased fertility. Therefore, growing incomes in the region would be expected to contribute to the improvement of reproductive health outcomes. Experience also shows that economic growth alone cannot improve health status, and resources must be specifically targeted to social sectors.

The decrease in the maternal mortality ratio correlates with the increase in GNP/c among MENA countries, but the decrease becomes less significant at the upper-middle-income and high-income levels (figure 26). The proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants increases as GNP/c increases (figure 27), but the proportion increases less significantly once it reaches 80 percent at the upper-middle-income and high-income levels; proportions vary widely, even among the low-income to lower-middle-income



countries. Urban-rural gaps in the proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants decrease along with the increase in GNP/c among MENA countries (figure 28), but there are also wide variations among low-income to lower-middle-income countries. This suggests that targeted interventions, particularly in rural areas, will be needed to achieve further improvement.

TFRs among MENA countries have no correlation with GNP/c (figure 29). This indicates that sociocultural factors exert greater influence over fertility rates in MENA countries than does economic growth.

Health Expenditure

Increased spending for health care contributes to improved maternal health; however, spending must be well targeted if it is



to achieve further improvement. Decreases in MMR correlate with increases in per capita health care expenditure among MENA countries, but decreases are less significant in countries spending more than \$120 per capita for health care (figure 30). The proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants increases along with increased per capita health expenditure among MENA countries (figure 31). The increase is less significant once the proportion reaches 80 percent in countries spending more than \$120 per capita for health care. This suggests that further health care spending may not be allocated to essential services such as maternal care, but rather spent on more sophisticated and expensive medical care and equipment.



TFRs among MENA countries have no correlation with per capita health expenditure (figure 32). This suggests that population programs should not require high health expenditures; rather, interventions need only be more effectively targeted and more efficient.

Education of Women

Low educational attainment of women is likely to have negative impacts on reproductive health status, as the overall health status of



a country usually improves along with the increased educational levels of the people. Education contributes to improved awareness of health, nutrition, and hygiene, as well as to increased competency and income. Women's educational attainment has significant impacts not only on the women themselves, but also on all family members, because a woman is usually the caretaker of her family. In addition, increased female educational levels commonly correlate with decreased fertility, which benefits the health of both women and their children.



A decrease in MMR correlates with an increase in female secondary school enrollment among MENA countries, while an increase in MMR correlates with an increase in the malefemale gap in the secondary school enrollment rate (figures 33, 34). The proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants increases along with female secondary school enrollment among MENA countries and decreases along with the widening of the male-female gap in secondary school enrollment (figures 35, 36). TFRs have no correlation with



either female secondary school enrollment rates or male-female gaps in secondary school enrollment rates among MENA countries (figures 37, 38). This indicates that both women's increased educational attainment and decreased male-female differences in educational levels contribute to improved maternal health, but these factors do not contribute much to decreased fertility in MENA countries.



Women's Share of Household Income

Although women's share of income is expected to reflect the degree of women's participation in social activities and decisionmaking processes in the family, it is not a significant determining factor in terms of maternal health and fertility among MENA countries. MMR even slightly increases along with an increase in women's share of household income (figure 39). Neither the proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants nor TFR have any correlation with women's share of household income among MENA countries (figures 40, 41).



















CHAPTER 3



Improving Reproductive Health in MENA Countries

Priority Issues and Obstacles

According to the priority reproductive health issues (table 21), MENA countries can be roughly categorized into three groups:

- 1. Low-income and lower-middle-income countries with high fertility, high adolescent fertility, and high maternal mortality.
- 2. Lower-middle-income and upper-middle-income countries with high fertility, high adolescent fertility, and moderately high maternal mortality.
- 3. High-income countries with moderately high fertility and increasing prevalence of STIs.

It is noteworthy that MENA countries, particularly uppermiddle-income countries, have high total fertility and adolescent fertility compared with countries of similar income levels in other regions. Countries with high maternal mortality have an urgent need to improve maternal care, countries with high fertility need to develop effective strategies and improve access to and quality of services, and all countries should strengthen STI prevention programs. The countries that have experienced significant fertility decline may require a new approach to achieve further decline. Countries in which fertility remains high must put into place effective programs. Strategies and interventions will be different depending on each country's economic and social situation. Financial and technical assistance from international agencies will be indispensable for low-income and lower-middle-income countries, while only technical advice may be required for upper-middleincome and high-income countries.

COUNTRY	MATERNAL MORTALITY	TOTAL FERTILITY	teenage Fertility	SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS AND HIV/AIDS	FEMALE GENITAL CUTTING
Yemen	+++	+++	+++	±	+
Iraq	+++	++	+	±	
Syria	++	++	++	±	—
Egypt	+++	+	+	±	+++
Morocco	+++	+	+	+	_
Algeria	++	+	±	±	_
Jordan	+	++	+	+	_
Iran	+	+	++	±	_
WBG	+	+++	+	±	_
Tunisia	+	+	±	+	_
Lebanon	++	+	+	±	—
Oman	+	++	+++	+	±
Libya	+	++	+++	±	_
Saudi Arab	ia ±	+++	+	±	±
Bahrain	+	+	±	+	_
Qatar	±	+	+	±	_
Israel	±	+	±	±	±
UAE	±	+	+	+	_
Kuwait	±	+	+	+	_

Table 21. Major Reproductive Health Issues in MENA Countries

+++ Very high prevalence.

++ High prevalence.

+ Low prevalence.

 \pm Very low prevalence.

- Not reported.

Note: Shaded cells represent significant public health issues.

Possible causes of the problems and obstacles to improving reproductive health status include:

- Lack of explicit policy guidelines and strong commitment by governments. Some MENA countries do not have policies to curb population growth, although even relatively rich countries will not be able to sustain rapid population increase, given limited water resources and declining oil revenues.
- *Lack or shortage of financial resources*. Countries do not allocate enough financial resources to establish and maintain effective service delivery systems or to train and deploy qualified health personnel. Reproductive health programs sometimes have lower priority than other investment programs.
- Lack of awareness on the part of policymakers and the general public. Both policymakers and the general public, particularly decisionmakers in households and communities, often do not recognize the serious consequences of reproductive health problems.
- *Cultural and social barriers*. MENA countries have relatively large gender gaps in terms of education and social participation of women, regardless of country income levels. Cultural and social constraints often make it difficult to address various reproductive health issues directly.
- *Poor quality of services.* Technical competency of health personnel is often insufficient because of inappropriate training and supervision. Counseling services are often lacking. Essential equipment, drugs, and medical supplies are in short supply or are poorly maintained.
- *Ineffective program design and unclear targets*. Past programs sometimes failed to focus on interventions that could have direct impacts, to target underserved groups, or to increase the demand for services.
- Delayed development of other critical sectors. Overall social sector development, including general health care coverage, girls'

education, women's job opportunities, and development of other sectors such as transportation and communication, are critical for improving reproductive health.

Strategies and Possible Interventions

Key strategies for improving reproductive health in the region are as follows:

- *Focus on priority issues.* A strategy should have clear objectives that address priority issues in each country. Programs should be designed to achieve tangible impacts on priority issues. In the region, high maternal mortality and high fertility are two of the highest priority issues.
- *Target the underprivileged*. Since reproductive health problems are far more serious among underprivileged population groups, such as the poor and rural inhabitants, a strategy should be developed to decrease the gaps within a country.
- Overcome the obstacles. Programs should be carefully designed to overcome major obstacles, such as shortage of financial and human resources, and cultural resistance. For instance, comprehensive approaches that provide reproductive health services through a single channel will make best use of available financial and human resources, take advantage of any opportunities to reach clients, and reduce cultural resistance. If women are reluctant to be examined by male staff, female health professionals should be trained and deployed.
- *Improving quality of care*. Quality of services should be improved, standardized, and carefully monitored. Standard protocols should be established for ensuring quality of care, reducing unnecessary medical intervention, and containing costs. Each country should establish quality monitoring and regulation systems.⁹ Essential equipment, drugs, and medical supplies must be secured. Facilities should be designed to protect the privacy of clients. Qualified

health professionals with life-saving and other specialized skills, as well as communication and counseling skills, need to be trained, deployed, and properly supervised. Managerial capacity must be improved at all levels.

- Developing sustainable financing mechanisms. To ensure access to essential services, feasible and sustainable financing mechanisms need to be established. The public sector alone will not be able to continue to play a major role in service provision; therefore private sector involvement and community financing measures should be explored. Reproductive health services should be included in benefit packages of health insurance schemes.¹⁰ Financing systems should provide incentives that encourage preventive care but discourage unnecessary medical intervention. Based on lessons learned from the experiences of other countries, there are many innovative approaches that can be tried: community financing measures to provide emergency transportation for pregnant women; partnership with community organizations and private nonprofit agencies for delivering services to underserved areas;⁽²²⁹⁾ and involvement of private physicians and pharmacies for family planning services.
- *Raising awareness and changing behaviors*. IEC strategies to change people's attitudes and behaviors are crucial, as people's lack of awareness and behaviors based on harmful beliefs and customs are contributing factors to problems. Target audiences include women, their husbands, and the elders in their families, community leaders, and policymakers. IEC programs can be delivered through mass media or on a personal level at health facilities and communities. Involving religious and opinion leaders will be important.
- *Empowering women*. The improvement of women's societal status contributes to improved reproductive health. Women's participation in the decisionmaking processes of their families and communities, as well as in the overall developmental process, should be promoted. Teenage fertility is expected to decrease

Box 3. Reaching Out to Bedouin Women through Innovative Partnership in Jordan

Although about 73 percent of Jordan's population of 4.4 million is urban, improving the quality of life of the traditionally nomadic rural population—the Bedouin—is an important policy issue for the government. In the past half-century, Jordan has made remarkable progress in the social sector, as demonstrated by a relatively low infant mortality rate and a high literacy rate.^(220, 230) However, progress in the rural population has lagged behind. Moreover, in contrast to other social indicators, the total fertility rate remains high even at the national level, and the national population strategy was approved only in 1996. Thus, reproductive health issues of the rural population require particular attention.

The Queen Alia Fund for Social Development (QAF) is a quasi-NGO headed by a member of the royal family. QAF actively participates in women's education and income-generation programs through a network of social centers located in rural areas. Despite the conservative culture of the rural populace, they trust QAF because of the authority of the royal family and are willing to send their women to the centers. QAF also sponsors the National Population Commission. QAF has created partnerships with many other development agencies, including bilateral donor agencies and international NGOs.

Taking into account the close links between reproductive health issues and the status of women, an innovative program in a rural district near the Dead Sea successfully integrated reproductive health services and activities to empower women. QAF and the Ministry of Health implemented the program in partnership with a bilateral donor

Box 3. (Continued)

agency, the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA). This program used existing public health facilities and QAF social centers and mobilized local communities. Women from local communities were educated about women's empowerment and reproductive health issues at the social centers. Then, some of the participants were recruited as health communicators for their communities. Existing health facilities were rehabilitated to provide reproductive health services, including family planning services. The partnership worked well: JICA provided technical expertise and financial assistance, and QAF successfully addressed culturally sensitive issues and reached into conservative communities.^(62, 128, field interviews)

along with the increase in girls' education levels. The empowerment of women is expected to benefit not only women themselves, but also entire families, because better educated and healthier women are able to provide better care and stability for their families. Education and social participation programs for poor women are an important component of reproductive health interventions (box 3).

Intervention components for each major reproductive health issue in the region are summarized in table 22. Each specific objective should be established on the basis of accurate data, and each component should have measurable indicators.

• *High maternal mortality:* Establish EOC at the first-referral level with effective linkage to high-quality prenatal care; raise awareness.

EARLY MARRIAGE MATERNAL SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND TEENAGE FEMALE GENITAL ARFA MORTALITY FERTILITY INFECTIONS AND HIV/AIDS FFRTILITY CUTTING Primary Improve quality of Ensure supply of and Provide high-quality case Provide family Provide counselina for health care access to various contraprenatal care; create management services; plannina effective linkages to ceptive methods; provide provide counseling services services; provide services prevention. referral services; counseling and clinical for prevention and treatment; regular prenatal strengthen postnatal care. follow-up; increase private ensure confidentiality; screen checkups. sector involvement. pregnant women. Provide care for Referral Establish high-quality Provide diagnostic and Provide care for Improve access to surgical essential obstetric services curative services with good high-risk services procedures. serious at the first-referral level: quality and confidentiality; complications. pregnancies. improve access. screen donated blood and surgical patients. Health Train physicians and Improve technical compe-Establish clinical protocols Provide training Improve midwives with life-saving tency and communication and infection-prevention communication and incentives personnel obstetric skills; deploy skills. procedures and provide skills; increase disincentives to qualified personnel; train training; improve communioutreach service providers health workers and TBAs cation skills. activities. (TBAs, etc). with knowledge of referral. Information. Raise awareness of Increase demand for family Raise awareness of high-risk Raise awareness Raise awareness obstetric risks among planning services; give behaviors; change behaviors of risks among of risks; change education, information on methods and comwomen and their family of men; give information on decisionmakers behaviors of members; give nutrition and how to access: raise in families; family elders munication symptoms. awareness of men and education. promote girls' and opinion community leaders. education. leaders. Establish referral systems, Establish explicit policies; Develop surveillance systems; Ban FGC and Policy and Raise and health including transportation. commit politically. establish blood safety enforce legal age enforce the ban. of marriage. systems systems.

Table 22. Possible Intervention Components

- *High fertility and slowing fertility decline:* Improve access to and quality of family planning services; enhance IEC activities aimed at increasing demand.
- *Increasing prevalence of STIs, including HIV/AIDS:* Establish surveillance and blood-screening systems; develop clinical protocols for treatment and prevention; provide counseling and high-quality services; raise awareness of risky behaviors.
- *Early marriage and high teenage fertility:* Raise awareness of the risks among decisionmakers; promote girls' education.
- FGC in Egypt and Yemen: Raise awareness of the risks among decisionmakers.

The impact of current and past policies and interventions should be evaluated and analyzed. Each country should review both the achievements and shortcomings to date, refocus on unsolved and emerging issues, and develop new, more effective strategies. Some of the program evaluations in MENA countries done by the sponsoring agencies are shown in table 23. Evaluations indicated that integration of family planning services into existing basic health care systems had achieved favorable outcomes. Most programs successfully increased contraceptive prevalence rates and reduced fertility rates, but common constraints were the low management capacity of local counterparts and cultural norms that hindered interventions.

In-depth analyses are necessary in each country and in various subnational areas. Operational research would help identify various obstacles and contributors to success, as well as the hidden needs of the people. Sociologic and anthropologic analyses are also useful in designing well-targeted interventions and decreasing obstacles. Because many qualitative studies have already been conducted in various communities, the findings of these studies should be reviewed and integrated into each specific intervention, as well as into national-level policies and strategies. Impacts of other sector developmental programs should be also evaluated and analyzed.

PROGRAM	OBJECTIVES	EVALUATION
Egypt: Second Population Project (1979–84), The World Bank	To expand family planning services and reduce fertility (total US\$60.3 million).	Health service delivery was expanded by constructing health units, deploying health staff, and implementing outreach activities. The coverage of family planning services did not expand as expected due to low political commit- ment and the lack of implementation capacity of the government.
Egypt: Family Planning II Project (1987–93), USAID	To upgrade the quality and quantity of family planning services, to increase knowledge of family planning, and to reduce fertility.	High-quality family planning service centers were established. The cost was high in part because of nonessential equipment procured for the centers. The centers were underutilized due to institutional and management turmoil and lack of proper market research. Contraceptive prevalence rose significantly, but cultural norms constrained the delivery of services, especially in rural areas.
Morocco: Population and Family Support Project, Phase III (1984–91), USAID	To improve family planning information and services and to support child survival.	The project achieved significant outcomes and even exceeded the planned target. Integrated service delivery was more effective than separate delivery; family planning and immunization were valid for child survival.
Jordan: HEALTHCOM project (1987–89), USAID	To implement a communications campaign and to institutionalize the methodology.	Radio and TV messages on birth spacing and breastfeeding were produced; however, the birth-spacing spots were never broadcast because of cultural controversy. Local participation in choosing the topics was important.
Iran: Population Project (1974–80), The World Bank	To construct family planning training centers and to deliver family planning services to rural areas.	(Reviewed in 1994) Behavioral changes to use contraceptives and fertility decline continued. The expansion of services to new groups of women (in rural areas, etc.) and the introduction of new methods were needed, so they were included in the ongoing project.
Tunisia: Population and Family Health Project (1990–98), The World Bank	To integrate MCH and family planning services into existing basic health facilities, and to reduce fertility, mortality, and regional disparities (total US\$63.2 million).	Investments were successfully channeled to underserved areas, and the integration of MCH and family planning services was achieved. MMR, IMR, and other indicators showed significant improvement, but impacts were diminished due to difficulties in staff allocation. Public resources could be better allocated by taking into account the availability of private sector resources and using regional indicators to weigh resource allocations.

Table 23. Program Evaluations: Examples in MENA Countries

Sources: 18, 175, 176, 178, 179, 209, 228.

Costs and Benefits

Considering the value of the potential benefits, reproductive health interventions could be provided at relatively low cost. Estimated average costs of pregnancy-related care were US\$90 to \$225 per birth attended, which was US\$4 to \$9 per capita and less than US\$2,000 per death averted.⁽²¹³⁾ The costs varied, depending on the level of health sector development, or the quality, quantity, and accessibility of the existing health facilities.⁽¹⁴⁴⁾ For instance, in a district with a population of 500,000, which had only one health center and a hospital that was inaccessible to many women and not adequately equipped, the estimated cost of intervention per maternal death averted was US\$11,777. In situations where the district had one hospital and 10 health centers, the estimated cost was \$6,966. In Bangladesh, the intervention cost was estimated at \$2,158 per maternal and neonatal death averted; however, the cost of averting one additional maternal or neonatal death was estimated at \$24,110. In Latin American countries in 1990, the intervention costs were \$5 per pregnant woman for prenatal care, \$20 for normal delivery at a health center, and \$200 for delivery at a hospital.

WHO's Mother-Baby Package program integrates maternal care, management of obstetric complications and abortion, neonatal care, family planning, and STI management at both the primary health care and referral levels.⁽¹⁹²⁾ The program is estimated to cost US\$65.80 per birth and US\$2.90 per capita in a district with a population of 2.3 million and a crude birth rate of 44 per 1,000 population (about 100,000 annual births). The cost goes down to US\$44.10 per birth and US\$1.80 per capita in a district of population 500,000 (table 24). The largest share of the input cost is for clinical personnel (almost 40 percent), followed by the annualized capital cost and drugs.

A cost-benefit study of a higher-level family planning program in Egypt estimated the high benefit-cost ratio of 30.⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ The higher level of family planning was intended to achieve the following national objectives in Egypt: (a) 74 percent contraceptive prevalence by 2015; (b) a population of less than 80 million in 2015; and (c)

District population Crude birth rate	2,280,000 44 (per 1,000 population)				Number of pregnancies Number of births			
	HEALTH	POST	HEAL	TH CENTER		H	OSPITAL	
Number % of delivery care	51 50		102 40					
	TOTAL COST (US\$)	COST/CLIENT (US\$)	TOTAL COST (US\$)	COST/CLIENT (US\$)		TOTAL COST (US\$)	COST/CLIENT (US\$)	% OF TOTAL COMBINED COSTS
Family planning Maternity Anemia STI Eclampsia Abortion Hemorrhage Obstructed labor Sepsis Neonatal Total	891,000 324,000 42,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,278,000	5 6 8 20 7	845,000 1,184,000 136,000 131,000 141,000 139,000 131,000 130,000 131,000 3,107,000	6 27 32 35 473 17 25 48 473 118 23	2	246,000 354,000 95,000 48,000 185,000 276,000 249,000 321,000 185,000 256,000 2,214,000	7 32 86 35 671 33 45 116 670 31 65	30.0 28.2 4.2 3.1 4.8 6.3 5.9 6.9 4.8 5.9 100
Total (US\$) Per capita (US\$) Per birth (US\$)	1,	278,000 0.56		3,107,000 1.36			2,214,000 0.97	6,600,000 2.90 65.80
INPUT		%	INPUT		%	INPUT		%
Annualized capital Bed/hospital costs Maintenance and u Transport (fuel)	cost tilities	16 4 6 1	Drugs Consumable sup Laboratory supp Blood supplies	oplies olies	12 10 1 2	Clinico Manag Suppo IEC/so	Il personnel gement and supervi rt salaries ocial marketing	39 sion 3 3 3

Table 24. Mother-Baby Package: Summary of Intervention Costs

Source: 192.

two-child families. In 20 years, US\$5.5 billion for food subsidies, education, potable water, sewage, housing, and health care would be saved as a result of the reduction in population growth that would accompany a contraceptive prevalence rate of 74 percent, while the family planning program would cost only US\$184 million (table 25). It is expected that a reduction in population growth would lead to improved living standards. Gross domestic product was estimated to rise 4.5 percent, while average household incomes would increase by 6.5 percent.

Possible Roles of the World Bank

During the past few years, the World Bank has focused intensively on improving its effectiveness in social sectors. The 1997 Health, Nutrition and Population (HNP) sector strategy paper⁽²²⁴⁾ described reform initiatives for improving effectiveness through

	•	-		-	-	
	IN 1992	IN 2015 (WITH NO CHANGE IN FAMILY PLANNING)	IN 2015 (WITH HIGHER LEVEL OF FAMILY PLANNING)	CUMULATIVE COST/ SAVINGS 1993–2015 (LE MILLION)	CUMULATIVE COST/ SAVINGS 1993–2015 (US\$ MILLION)	BENEFIT- COST RATIO
Cost of family planning	£E 66 million	£E 111 million	£E 167 million	635	184	
Food subsidy	£E 623 million	£E 1,000 million	£E 885 million	1,317	382	2.07
Health	£E 833 million	£E 1,350 million	£E 1,185 million	1,034	300	2.05
Education		38,300 schools	29,800 schools	5,932	1,720	9.34
Sewage	1.2 billion m ³	4.4 billion m ³	3.8 billion m ³	2,821	818	4.44
Drinking water				3,701	1,073	5.82
Housing				4,047	1,174	6.37
Total				18,852	5,467	30.09

Table 25. Projected Costs and Savings of Family Planning Program in Egypt

Note: £E: Egyptian pound. £E 1 = US\$0.29. Source: 108. better definition of public and private sectors in financing and delivering health services, better organization and management of health systems, and greater community involvement in designing and monitoring services. Further, the Bank recently published a population and reproductive health strategy paper, "Population and the World Bank—Adapting to Change," to complement the HNP sector strategy paper.⁽²³⁴⁾

As described in the population and reproductive health paper, new approaches bring opportunities for addressing reproductive health issues. For example, sector-wide reform can address many of the underlying constraints that make health systems unresponsive to the needs of the poor. Although reform efforts usually focus on such key agendas as financing reorganization and decentralization, the technical and financial inputs required for reproductive health must be maintained. The quality and accessibility of services need to be ensured, and the impact of reforms on key reproductive health indicators must be monitored.

The Bank's comparative advantage recognized in the strategy paper is its capacity for policy dialogue and resource mobilization. Because of the Bank's access to both finance and planning ministries, as well as functional ministries such as health, education, and women's affairs, it is well positioned to facilitate synergistic policies that link investments in different sectors to achieve optimum impacts. The impact of collaborative interventions in several sectors is likely to be greater than the sum of each program in health, education, gender, and poverty reduction. The Bank's long-term commitment is also important, because it takes at least 15 years to achieve results in human development interventions in general; it may take even longer in reproductive health interventions. Further, the Bank has the financial capacity to support strengthening of obstetric referral systems, including first-referral hospitals, which are essential. Reproductive health services can be a core around which primary and secondary health care are strengthened during health sector reform efforts. Strengthening partnerships with other agencies that are active in reproductive health will help the Bank improve effectiveness in its operations.

One of the major challenges identified in the strategy paper is regional and cultural diversity. The range of unmet reproductive health needs, including effective contraception and safe childbearing, varies substantially among the regions of the world. Such differences are typically greater in maternal health than in other health issues. Attitudes and cultural barriers are complex and particular to each country, so interventions must be context-specific and culturally sensitive. Therefore, a regional strategy and countryspecific strategies need to be developed in a framework of global strategy. The Bank's comparative advantage in policymaking emerges from its analytical work and dialogue on country and sector strategies. This reproductive health review of the MENA region will provide the base of knowledge and a tool to stimulate discussion in each country. Consequently, the review is expected to help develop a regional strategy and country strategies for improving reproductive health.

Possible roles of the World Bank for improving reproductive health in the MENA region are:

- *Refocus on reproductive health issues as an unfinished policy agenda.* Reproductive health issues should be discussed with governments in the context of economic and social development. The issues should be taken into account in the Country Assistance Strategy of the Bank.
- Assist in effective and efficient health sector development. To improve reproductive health, overall health system development is required. Areas to be developed include service delivery mechanisms, and referral systems; quality standards for services, along with monitoring systems; sustainable financing mechanisms; information management systems; policy and legal frameworks; private sector involvement; institutional and technical capacity building; and human resources. As most MENA countries are making efforts to reform their health systems, Bank sector strategies should pay attention to the impact on reproductive health. Reproductive health indicators should be used to monitor health system development.

- *Support specific programs*. Current programs could be improved in quality and targeted to the underprivileged, using lessons learned from the past. The programs should ensure client-oriented comprehensive service delivery, competency-based capacity building, and sustainable and feasible financing plans. The Bank can mobilize relatively large amounts of funds, which may assist in essential infrastructure development, such as establishing first-referral hospitals. The Bank's experience in other regions would help in formulating a better strategy for addressing both the new emerging issues and the old unsolved problems in the MENA region.
- *Monitor and adjust the programs of other sectors.* Developmental programs in other sectors, such as education, poverty reduction, rural development, communication, transportation, and so on, have impacts on reproductive health. Decreasing gender inequity in terms of income, education, and participation in decisionmaking processes will contribute to the improvement of reproductive health. The Bank's programs in other sectors should be designed and adjusted so that they can have a positive impact on reproductive health.
- *Coordinate with other assistance programs.* The Bank, as a neutral international agency, could also assist in coordinating and mobilizing the technical and financial resources of other agencies, as well as the private sector. Each country has to improve its programs to meet international standards. MENA countries, including countries that do not require financial assistance, should strengthen their technical and managerial capacities for planning, implementing, and monitoring the programs. The Bank could facilitate technical assistance in partnership with other organizations such as the World Health Organization (WHO), the U.N. Population Fund (UNFPA), UNICEF, bilateral agencies, and reputable NGOs, while taking into account each agency's technical advantage.

CHAPTER 4



Conclusion

Reproductive health problems have direct negative impacts on both women and their children, who constitute approximately threequarters of the world's population. Reproductive health problems also impede the long-term economic and social development of a country, because they diminish productivity, educational attainment, and quality of life while increasing health care costs and social inequity. The reproductive health status of a country reflects the gaps between men and women, rich and poor households, and urban and rural areas within that country. Long-term losses caused by reproductive health problems should not be underestimated: The failure to invest in positive outcomes now will result in even greater costs in the future.

Despite the achievements of the population and health sectors during the last several decades in the MENA region, reproductive health issues remain unfinished, and new issues are emerging. As reproductive health issues are often culturally sensitive, strong political commitment will be essential to solve the problems.

Improved reproductive health will contribute to reducing poverty and inequity and to developing human capital comprehensively. This is necessary to fulfill the World Bank's mandate, which is to reduce poverty and foster sustainable economic and social development. Improving reproductive health is a key to achieving the wellbeing of the next generation and prosperity for society as a whole.

APPENDIX



Reproductive Health Terms and Indicators

Adolescence: WHO defines adolescence as the period from 10 to 19 years, and complements that broad category with terms that extend the age range: youth, 15–24 years; young people, 10–24 years; and children, 10–18 years.⁽⁹⁶⁾

Anemia: Blood hemoglobin levels that indicate anemia are: for nonpregnant women, < 12 g/dl; for pregnant women, < 11 g/dl; and for adult men, < 13 g/dl. Iron deficiency is a major cause of anemia, which is common among women of reproductive age because iron is generally lost as a result of pregnancy, delivery, and menstrual bleeding.⁽⁹⁾

Body mass index (BMI): An indicator of adult obesity and malnutrition. BMI is calculated using the following formula: weight (kg)/height (m)². Being underweight is defined as having a BMI < 20; overweight as BMI > 25; and obesity as BMI > $30.^{(9)}$

Case fatality rate: Proportion of women with obstetric complications in a specific facility who die. Numerator is the number of women with obstetric complications who die in a particular facility in a given period of time. Denominator is the number of women admitted to
the facility with an obstetric complication or who develop a complication while in that particular facility over the same time period as in the numerator.⁽⁹⁸⁾

Cesarean section rate: Proportion of pregnant women who have a cesarean section in a specific geographic area in a given time period. Numerator is the number of pregnant women with cesarean section in a specific geographic area in a given time period. Denominator is the number of live births in that specific geographic area in the same time period as in the numerator.⁽⁹⁸⁾

Contraceptive prevalence rate: Percentage of women who are practicing, or whose sexual partners are practicing, any form of contraception. It is usually measured for married women aged 15 to 49 years, and usually includes all methods, whether traditional or modern. Modern contraceptive methods include IUDs, oral contraceptive pills, injections, tubal ligation, and vasectomy, and sometimes include condoms.

Crude birth rate: The number of live births in a given year per 1,000 population.

Eclampsia: Pregnancy-induced hypertension complicated by convulsions with or without loss of consciousness. Convulsions can be independent of the degree of pre-eclampsia.⁽²³⁸⁾

Emergency obstetric care: A subset of EOC, emergency obstetric care responds to unexpected complications such as hemorrhage and obstructed labor with blood transfusion, anesthesia, and surgery.⁽⁹⁸⁾ Emergency obstetric care includes vacuum extraction, symphysiotomy, cesarean section and laparotomy, resuscitation, manual removal of the placenta, bimanual compression, managing infections, managing eclampsia, and suturing lacerations.⁽⁶⁴⁾ It does not include management of problem pregnancies, monitoring of labor, or neonatal special care.

Essential obstetric care: Includes the services that are required to save the lives of the majority of women with obstetric complications.⁽¹⁷³⁾ EOC provides not only the means to manage emergency complications when they happen, but also procedures for early detection and treatment to prevent problem pregnancies from progressing to the level of an emergency.⁽⁹⁸⁾ Basic EOC services include: administering parenteral antibiotics; administering parenteral oxitocic drugs; administering parenteral anti-convulsants for eclampsia; performing manual removal of the placenta; performing removal of retained products; and performing assisted vaginal delivery. Comprehensive EOC services include performing surgery (such as cesarean section) and blood transfusion, in addition to the basic services.

FGC/female genital mutilation: All procedures that involve the partial or total removal of the external female genitalia or other injury to the female genital organs, whether for cultural or any other nontherapeutic reasons.⁽¹⁸⁸⁾ FGC is classified into four types. Type 1 is excision of the prepuce, with or without excision of part or all of the clitoris. Type 2 is excision of the prepuce and clitoris together, with partial or total excision of the labia minora. Type 3 (infibulation) is excision of part or all of the external genitalia, and stitching/ narrowing of the vaginal opening. Type 4 (unclassified) includes any other procedures that fall under the definition of FGC, such as piercing, incision, or stretching of clitoris and labia. In Egypt, types 1 and 2 are widely practiced among both Muslims and Christians, while type 3 is reported in southern areas close to Sudan.

Fistulas: Urinary fistulas are tracts established by trauma that conduct urine from the ureter, bladder, or urethra into the vagina, while rectovaginal fistulas are tracts that conduct feces into the vagina. Urinary and rectovaginal fistulas in women are usually the result of trauma such as obstetric injuries.⁽¹³⁾

Incomplete abortion: An abortion in which the fetus and placenta are not expelled entirely. Because placental parts often remain in utero, a postpartum curettage is necessary.

Infant mortality rate: The number of infants who die before reaching one year of age, expressed per 1,000 live births in a given year.

Infertility: Inability of a couple to conceive or to bring a pregnancy to term after one year or more of regular, unprotected intercourse.⁽⁴⁵⁾ Approximately 10 percent of couples worldwide experience some form of infertility problem, which can be attributed to the female, the male, or both. Female factors include: an- or oligo-ovulation; abnormal tubal function, which is caused mainly by pelvic inflammatory diseases; and uterine abnormality.⁽¹³⁾ Male factors include azospermia, varicocele, and retrograde ejaculation. Treatments include artificial insemination, ovulation-inducing agents such as clomiphene and human gonadotropins, and assisted reproductive technologies such as in vitro fertilization.

Low birthweight: Birthweight of less than 2,500 grams.⁽⁹⁾ Lowbirthweight infants include those who are born prematurely and those who are small for gestational age due to intrauterine growth retardation. The latter condition is mainly caused by maternal malnutrition, pre-eclampsia or other maternal complications, cigarette smoking, or fetal disorders such as chromosomal anomaly and intrauterine viral infection.

Maternal death: Death of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of the termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration or site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy or its management, but not from accidental causes.⁽¹⁴⁴⁾ A leading cause of death among women of reproductive age is pregnancy-related illness.

Maternal mortality rate: The number of maternal deaths per 100,000 women between 15 and 49 years of age. The rate reflects both the MMR and the fertility rate; therefore, it is influenced by both obstetric risk and the likelihood of becoming pregnant.

Maternal mortality ratio: The number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births. The ratio measures the obstetric risk of women, or the risk of death once pregnant.

Met need for essential obstetric care: Proportion of women with major obstetric complications who are appropriately managed in a specific geographic area in a given time period.⁽⁹⁸⁾ Numerator is the number of women with major direct obstetric complications who are appropriately managed in a specific geographic area in a given time period. Denominator is the number of women with major obstetric complications estimated for the same geographic area and time period.

Postpartum amenorrhea: The failure to resume menstruation beyond the 10th postpartum week or six weeks after weaning.⁽²³⁸⁾

Pre-eclampsia: Pregnancy-induced hypertension, which is characterized by hypertension and proteinuria, frequently combined with excessive edema.⁽²³⁸⁾ Cases of pre-eclampsia typically occur in the third trimester, and rarely before 20 weeks.

Prolapse: Significant descent of the uterus and vagina, which may descend partly or completely beyond the vulva.⁽²³⁸⁾ Prolapse is primarily the result of frequent deliveries. It causes disturbing symptoms such as pelvic fullness, back pain, urinary symptoms such as incontinence and pollakiuria, vaginal discharge, and bleeding.

Proportion of births by site: Proportion that is calculated by the number of deliveries by site (such as home, health center, hospital) divided by the number of all live births in the same geographic area and time frame.⁽⁹⁸⁾

Proportion of deliveries assisted by skilled attendants: The number of deliveries by skilled health personnel (skilled delivery care) irrespective of outcome (live birth or fetal death), divided by the number of all live births in the same geographic area and time

frame.⁽⁹⁸⁾ The WHO definition in 1996 indicates that skilled birth attendants include physicians, nurses, midwives, and trained health workers, but exclude traditional birth attendants.

Referral rate: Proportion of women with potential or actual obstetric complications moving from one level of care to another (for example, from a community to an EOC facility).⁽⁹⁸⁾ Numerator is the number of women with a potential or actual obstetric complication moved to another site for care. Denominator is the number of all women with obstetric complications (or deliveries or live births) in the same area and within the same time frame as in the numerator.

Sexually transmitted infection/sexually transmitted disease (STD): Infections transmitted by sexual contact, which include venereal diseases such as syphilis, gonorrhea, chancroid, and lympho-granuloma venereum; trichomoniasis, candidiasis, and nonspecific genital infections caused by neisseria, mycoplasmas, chlamydia, and herpes simplex viruses; viral hepatitis; HIV/AIDS; and scabies and infestation with lice.⁽²³⁸⁾ Fetuses and infants may contract certain STIs from their mothers during pregnancy and delivery, which may lead to serious health problems. WHO recommends the use of the term "sexually transmitted infections" instead of "sexually transmitted diseases." (198) The term "diseases" is considered inappropriate for asymptomatic infections (such as trichomoniasis in men). A new generation of professionals attached to the new reproductive health concepts would like to see STDs in the context of reproductive tract infections (that includes endogenous and exogenous, sexually and nonsexually transmitted, micro-organisms). The term "STI" also indicates better the necessity to provide care to asymptomatic women.

Total fertility rate: Total of each age-specific fertility rate per population of women between the ages of 15 and 49. TFR indicates the number of children that would be born to a woman if she were to live to the end of her childbearing years and bear children in accordance with current age-specific fertility rates.⁽¹⁴⁴⁾

Unmet need: Unmet need for family planning means, in general, the percentage of married women of reproductive age who want to avoid becoming pregnant but are not currently using family planning. More precisely, the unmet need group includes all fecund women who are married or living in union—and thus presumed to be sexually active—who are not using any method of contraception and who either do not want to have any more children or want to postpone their next birth for at least two more years.⁽²¹⁾ Those who want to have no more children are considered to have an unmet need for limiting births, while those who want more children but not for at least two more years are considered to have an unmet need for spacing births. The unmet need group also includes pregnant women and postpartum amenorrheic women whose pregnancies were unwanted or mistimed but who became pregnant as a result of not using contraception.

Unmet obstetric need: Estimate of the number of women needing a major obstetric intervention for life-threatening complications who did not have access to appropriate care.⁽⁹⁸⁾ It is calculated as follows: the estimate of the number of needed major obstetric interventions for absolute maternal indications, minus the number of interventions actually performed.



Notes

1. The U.N. conferences included the 1993 World Conference on Human Rights in Vienna, the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo, the 1995 World Summit for Social Development in Copenhagen, and the 1995 Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing.

2. The definitions of income groups are as follows: low-income countries have a GNP/c of \$785 or less; lower-middle-income countries, \$786–\$3,125; upper-middle-income countries, \$3,126–\$9,655; and high-income countries, \$9,656 or more.⁽²³¹⁾

3. According to recent demographic and health survey data, the MMR was 351 per 100,000 live births in Yemen and 79 per 100,000 live births in Jordan.^(27, 38)

4. If pregnancy and delivery are both managed well, an estimated 5 percent of deliveries will require cesarean section in order to save the life of mother or child or both.⁽¹⁸⁴⁾

5. "Short birth interval" is defined as less than 24 months after a previous birth.

6. Unmet need for family planning is the percentage of married women of reproductive age who want to avoid becoming pregnant but are not currently using family planning.

7. The five skill areas were counseling for combined oral contraceptive acceptors, IUD insertion, examination in the third trimester of pregnancy, interpretation of the partograph, and management of postpartum hemorrhage.

8. Military service is compulsory in Egypt, starting from the age of 18 years. Around 3 million Egyptians work outside the country.⁽⁹⁰⁾

9. The Quality Improvement Program component of a World Bank– sponsored project in WBG decreased postoperative infection, improved efficiency, and prepared standard treatment protocols.⁽²²⁵⁾

10. MCH care benefit packages are developed through the Egypt health sector reform project. $^{(227)}$



References

- 1. AbouZahr, C., and E. Royston. 1991. *Maternal Mortality: A Global Factbook*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Aloui, T., M. Ayad, and H. Fourati. 1989. "Enquête Démographique et de Santé en Tunisie 1988." Office National de la Famille et de la Population, Direction de la Population, and Macro Systems, Inc., Columbia, Md.
- 3. Al-Quassimi, S., and S. Farid. 1996. "Reproductive Patterns and Child Survival in the United Arab Emirates." Gulf Child Health Survey, Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Riyadh.
- 4. Al-Quassimi, S., M. Fikri, and S. Farid, eds. 1996. "United Arab Emirates Family Health Survey 1995: Preliminary Report." Ministry of Health, Abu Dhabi, and Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Riyadh.
- Al-Rashoud, R., and S. Farid. 1994. "Reproductive Patterns and Child Survival in Kuwait." Gulf Child Health Survey, Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Riyadh.
- 6. Al-Rashoud, R. H., and S. M. Farid, eds. 1997. "Kuwait Family Health Survey 1996: Preliminary Report." Ministry of Health, Kuwait City, and Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Riyadh.
- Alwan, A., B. Modell, A. Bittles, A. Czeizel, and H. Hamamy. 1997. "Community Control of Genetic and Congenital Disorders." WHO/EMRO, Alexandria.
- Anonymous. 1988. "Global Estimates of Unsafe Abortion. *Population Today* 26: 1–3.

- 9. Aoyama, A. 1999. "Towards a Virtuous Circle: A Nutrition Review of the Middle East and North Africa." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 10. Ayad, M., M. Azelmat, and E. A. Housni. 1993. "Enquête Nationale sur la Population et la Santé Maroc 1992." Ministère de la Santé, Rabat.
- Baker, J., L. Martin, and E. Piwoz. 1996. "The Time to Act: Women's Nutrition and Its Consequences for Child Survival and Reproductive Health in Africa." SARA Project, Academy for Educational Development, and USAID, Washington, D.C.
- 12. Berg, C., I. Danel, and G. Mora. "Guidelines for Maternal Mortality Epidemiological Surveillance." PAHO/WHO, CDC, and UNFPA, Washington, D.C.
- 13. Berkow, R., A. J. Fletcher, and M. H. M. Beers, eds. 1992. *The Merck Manual of Diagnosis and Therapy*. 16th edition. Rahway, N.J.: Merck Research Laboratories.
- 14. Bongaarts, J., and R. G. Potter. 1983. *Fertility, Biology, and Behavior: An Analysis of the Proximate Determinants.* New York: Academic Press.
- 15. Bos, E., V. Hon, A. Maeda, G. Chellaraj, and A. Preker. 1998. *Health, Nutrition, and Population Indicators: A Statistical Handbook.* Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Brechin, S., J. Griffey, A. Pfitzer, P. Jean, K. Garrison, and C. Quist. 1999. "Strengthening Family Planning and Safe Motherhood Clinical Training in Moroccan Medical Schools: Evaluation of Student Performance. Technical Report." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- Bruce, J. 1990. "Fundamental Elements of the Quality of Care: A Simple Framework." *Studies in Family Planning* 21 (2): 61–91.
- 18. Bulatao, R. A., and G. Richardson. 1994. "Islamic Republic of Iran: Fertility and Family Planning in Iran." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Carignan, C. S., L. Ippolito, and P. V. Nersesian. 1995. SEATS II: Clinical Protocols for Family Planning Programs: A Resource Book. Washington, D.C.: John Snow Inc. and AVSC International.
- 20. Carr, D. 1997. "Female Genital Cutting: Findings from the Demographic and Health Surveys Program." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- Center for Communication Programs, Population Information Program.1996. "Meeting Unmet Need: New Strategies." Population Reports, series J, no. 43. Johns Hopkins University School of Hygiene and Public Health, Baltimore.

- 22. Center for Communication Programs. 1998. "Men: Key Partners in Reproductive Health: A Report on the First Conference of French-Speaking African Countries on Men's Participation in Reproductive Health." Johns Hopkins University School of Hygiene and Public Health, Baltimore.
- 23. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1993. "Rates of Cesarean Delivery: United States, 1991." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 42: 285–289.
- Central Statistical Organization.1992. "National Population Strategy 1990– 2000 and Population Action Plan." Ministry of Planning and Development, Republic of Yemen, Sana'a.
- Central Statistical Organization and PAPCHILD. 1994. "Yemen Demographic and Maternal and Child Health Survey 1991/1992." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- Central Statistical Organization. 1998. "Yemen Demographic and Maternal and Child Health Survey 1997: Preliminary Report." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- 27. Central Statistical Organization. 1998. "Yemen Demographic and Maternal and Child Health Survey 1997." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- Chacham, A. S., and I. H. O. Perpetuo. 1998. "The Incidence of Caesarean Deliveries in Belo Horizonte, Brazil: Social and Economic Determinants." *Reproductive Health Matters* 6: 115–121.
- 29. Chelala, C. 1998. "Algerian Abortion Controversy Highlights Rape of War Victims." *Lancet* 351: 1413.
- Cochrane, S. H., and E. E. Massiah. 1995. "Egypt: Recent Changes in Population Growth: Their Causes and Consequences." World Bank, Human Resources Development and Operations Policy, Washington, D.C.
- Cohen, S. A. 1998. "The Reproductive Health Needs of Refugees: Emerging Consensus Attracts Predictable Controversy." *Guttmacher Report*, 8–10 October.
- Cross, H. 1993. "Policy Issues in Expanding Private Sector Family Planning." OPTIONS Policy Paper Series No. 3. Futures Group International, Washington, D.C.
- Curtin, S. C. 1997. "Rates of Cesarean Birth and Vaginal Birth after Previous Cesarean, 1991–95." *Monthly Vital Statistical Report* (National Center for Health Statistics) 45 (S3): 1–11.

- De Muylder, X. 1993. "Caesarian Sections in Developing Countries: Some Considerations." *Health Policy and Planning* 8: 101–112.
- De Onis, M., M. Blössner, and J. Villar. 1998. "Levels and Patterns of Intrauterine Growth Retardation in Developing Countries." *European Journal of Clinical Nutrution* 52: S1, S5–S15.
- Department of Statistics. 1991. "Jordan Population and Family Survey 1990." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- 37. Department of Statistics. 1998. "Jordan Population and Family Survey 1997: Preliminary Report." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- Department of Statistics. 1998. "Jordan Population and Family Health Survey 1997." Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- 39. El Hamamsy, L. 1994. "Early Marriage and Reproduction in Two Egyptian Villages." Population Council and UNFPA, Cairo.
- Elbualy, M., A. Bold, V. De Silva, and U. Gibbons. 1998. "Congenital Hypothyroid Screening: The Oman Experience." *Journal of Tropical Medicine* 44: 81–83.
- El-Sonbaty, M. R., and N. U. Abdul-Ghaffar. 1996. "Vitamin D Deficiency in Veiled Kuwaiti Women." *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 50: 315-318.
- 42. El-Zanaty, F. H., H. A. A. Sayed, H. H. M. Zaky, and A. A. Way. 1993. "Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 1992." National Population Council, Cairo, and Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- El-Zanaty, F., E. M. Hussein, G. A. Shawky, A. A. Way, and S. Kishor. 1996. "Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 1995." National Population Council, Cairo, and Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- 44. El-Zanaty, F. 1998. "Egypt Demographic and Health Survey 1997." National Population Council, Cairo, and Macro International, Inc., Calverton, Md.
- 45. Eugster, A., and A. J. J. M. Vingerhoets. 1999. "Psychological Aspects of In Vitro Fertilization: A Review." *Social Science and Medicine* 48: 575–589.
- 46. Family Care International. 1995. "Commitments to Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights for All: Framework for Action." New York.
- Family Health International. 1998. "Special Topic: Improving Service Quality." *Network* 19 (1).

- 48. Farsoun, M., N. Khoury, and C. Underwood. 1996. "In Their Own Words: A Qualitative Study of Family Planning in Jordan." IEC Field Report 6. Center for Communication Programs, Johns Hopkins University School of Hygiene and Public Health, Baltimore.
- 49. Food and Agriculture Organization and World Food Programme. 1997. "Special Report: FAO/WFP Supply and Nutrition Assessment Mission to Iraq." Rome.
- 50. Forgy, L., D. M. Measham, and A. G. Tinker. 1992. "Incorporating Cost and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis into the Development of Safe Motherhood Programs." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Galway, K, and A. Pope. 1995. "A Client-Orientated Method Mix Analysis for Five Near East Countries." Futures Group International, Washington, D.C.
- 52. Ghannam, F. 1997. "Fertile, Plump, and Strong: The Social Construction of the Female Body in Low-Income Cairo." Population Council, Giza.
- Ghosh, A., D. Lewison, and E. R. Lu, eds. 1999. "Issues in Establishing Postabortion Care Services in Low-Resource Settings." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- 54. Hammer, J. S. 1996. "Economic Analysis for Health Projects." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 55. Herz, B., and A. R. Measham. 1987. "The Safe Motherhood Initiative: Proposals for Action." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 56. Huffman, S. L., J. Baker, J. Shumann, and E. R. Zehner. 1998. "The Case for Promoting Multiple Vitamin/Mineral Supplement for Women of Reproductive Age in Developing Countries." LINKAGES Project, Academy for Educational Development, and USAID, Washington, D.C.
- Institute for Reproductive Health and American College of Nurse-Midwives. 1996. "Breastfeeding: Protecting a Natural Resource." Institute for Reproductive Health, Washington, D.C.
- Ismail, N., and M. Shahin. 1996. "Family Planning and Women's Reproductive Health Survey in the West Bank." Planning and Research Center, Jerusalem.
- 59. Jain, A., ed. 1998. "Do Population Policies Matter?" Population Council, New York.

- Jamison, D. T., W. H. Mosley, A. R. Measham, and J. L. Bobadilla, eds. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Janowitz, B., and J. H. Bratt. 1992. "Costs of Family Planning Services: A Critique of the Literature." *International Family Planning Perspectives* 18: 137.
- 62. Japan International Cooperation Agency. 1997. "Implementation Study Report on Family Planning and Women in Development Project in Hashimite Kingdom of Jordan." Tokyo.
- 63. JHPIEGO Corporation. 1998. "Training in Reproductive Health III. 1998 Annual Report." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- 64. Johnson, R., and D. Lewison, eds. 1996. "Issues in Training for Essential Maternal Health Care." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- 65. Karim, M. S. 1997. "Reproductive Behavior in Muslim Countries." Macro International, Inc. and UNFPA, New York.
- Karim, M. 1996. "Female Genital Mutilation (Circumcision): Historical, Social, Religious, Sexual and Legal Aspects." National Population Council, Cairo.
- Kealy, L. 1999. "Women Refugees Lack Access to Reproductive Health Services." *Population Today* 27: 1–2.
- Khattab, H. A. S., and G. Potter. 1992. "The Silent Endurance: Social Conditions of Women's Reproductive Health in Rural Egypt." Population Council, Cairo.
- Khattab, H., H. Zurayk, N. Younis, and O. Kamal. 1994. "Field Methodology for Entry into the Community." Policy Series in Reproductive Health, no. 3. Population Council, Cairo.
- Khattab, H. A., H. Zurayk, O. I. Kamal, F. Ghorayeb, and N. K. Chorbagi. 1997. "An Interview-Questionnaire on Reproductive Morbidity: The Experience of the Giza Morbidity Study." Population Council, Giza.
- 71. Khattab, H. 1996. "Women's Perceptions of Sexuality in Rural Giza." Population Council, Giza.
- 72. Kroeger, M. 1999. "Trip Report, Visit to Jordan: November 5–15, 1999." LINKAGES Project, Washington, D.C. USAID contractor report.
- Kubba, A. 1998. "Emergency Contraception with Levonorgestrel or the Yuzpe Regimen." *Lancet* 352: 1939, 1998.

- Kulier, R., M. De Onis, A. M., Gulmezoglu, and J. Villar. 1998. "Nutritional Interventions for the Prevention of Maternal Morbidity." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 63: 231–246.
- 75. Lavon, B., T. H. Tulchinsky, M. Preger, R. Said, and S. Kaufman. 1985. "Iron Deficiency Anemia among Jewish and Arab Infants at 6 and 12 Months of Age in Hadera, Israel." *Israeli Journal of Medical Science* 21: 107–112.
- 76. Leete, R. 1988. "Issues in Measuring and Monitoring Maternal Mortality: Implications for Programmes." UNFPA, New York.
- Lewis, M. A. 1987. "Cost Recovery in Family Planning." Economic Development and Cultural Change 36: 161–182.
- 78. Liskin, L. S. 1992. "Maternal Morbidity in Developing Countries: A Review and Comments." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 37: 77–87.
- 79. Macfarlane, A., and G. Chamberlain. 1993. "What Is Happening to Caesarean Section Rates?" *Lancet* 342, 1005–1006.
- 80. Macro International, Inc. 1989. "Tunisia Demographic and Health Survey 1988." Calverton, Md.
- Macro International, Inc. 1993. "Morocco Demographic and Health Survey 1992." Calverton, Md.
- 82. Macro International, Inc. 1996. "Morocco Demographic and Health Survey 1995." Calverton, Md.
- 83. Mahaini, R., and K. Mardini. 1993. "Study on Maternal Health Care Services during Pregnancy and Delivery in Syria, 1992." Ministry of Health and UNICEF, Damascus.
- McDevitt, T. M. 1996. "Trends in Adolescent Fertility and Contraceptive Use in the Developing World." U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, D.C.
- McIntosh, N., and L. Tietjen. 1996. "Infection Prevention: A History of Change." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- MESURE Communication. 1999. "Breastfeeding Patterns in the Developing World." Population Reference Bureau, Washington, D.C.
- Ministry of Health, Child Survival Project, in cooperation with USAID. 1994. "National Maternal Mortality Study, Finding and Conclusions (Egypt, 1992– 1993)." Ministry of Health, Cairo.

- 88. Ministry of Health, Palestinian National Authority. 1997. "A Quarterly Epidemiological Report Gaza Strip: 2nd Quarter, 1997." Gaza.
- 89. Ministry of Health, Palestinian National Authority. 1997. "The Status of Health in Palestine: Annual Report 1996." Gaza.
- Ministry of Health and Population, National AIDS Control Programme, Egypt. 1998. "Proposal for Prevention of HIV/AIDS among Youth at the Workplace." Submitted to UNAIDS, Cairo.
- Mohammad, A. M., K. O. Ardatl, and K. M. Bajakian. 1998. "Sickle Cell Disease in Bahrain: Coexistence and Interaction with Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (G6PD) Deficiency." *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics* 44: 70–72.
- 92. Morrissey, C., and Z. L. Rionda. 1999. "Maternal Health in Asia and the Near East: An Assessment Report." USAID, Washington, D.C.
- MotherCare Egypt Project, Ministry of Health and Population, and USAID. 1998. "The MotherCare Egypt Project: Final Report." Healthy Mother/ Healthy Child Project, Cairo.
- MotherCare. 1994. "STDs and Women's Health." *MotherCare Matters* 4 (3/4). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- 95. MotherCare. 1995. "On the Pathway to Maternal Health: Results from Indonesia." *MotherCare Matters* 5 (1). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- MotherCare. 1995. "Young Adults: Is Age a Risk Factor?" MotherCare Matters 5 (2/3). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- MotherCare. 1998. "Cost Impact of Family-Centered Maternity Care in Ukraine: Positive Clinical Indicators and Cost Efficiency: The Patient Wins." *MotherCare Matters* 7 (2). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- MotherCare. 1999. "Safe Motherhood Indicators: Lessons Learned in Measuring Progress." *MotherCare Matters* 8 (1). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- 99. MotherCare. 1999. "Scaling-up MotherCare." *MotherCare Matters* 8 (2). John Snow, Inc., Arlington, Va.
- 100. Mother's and Children's Health and Welfare Association. 1998. "Maternal and Child Health Statistics of Japan." Mother's and Children's Health Organization, Tokyo.
- 101. Murphy, E. M., and C. Steele. 1997. "Client-Provider Interactions in Family Planning Services: Guidance from Research and Program Experience." USAID

Office of Population, Maximizing Access and Quality Initiative, CPI Subcommittee. Processed.

- 102. Murray, C. J. L., and A. D. Lopez. 1996. "Global Health Statistics." Harvard School of Public Health for WHO and the World Bank, Boston.
- 103. Murray, C. J. L., and A. D. Lopez. 1996. "The Global Burden of Disease." Harvard School of Public Health for WHO and the World Bank, Boston.
- 104. Musaiger, A. O., and S. S. Miladi, eds. 1996. "Diet-Related Non-Communicable Diseases in the Arab Countries of the Gulf." FAO Regional Office of the Near East, Cairo.
- 105. Musaiger, A. O., and S. S. Miladi, eds. 1996. "Micronutrient Deficiencies in the Arab Middle East Countries." FAO Regional Office of the Near East, Cairo.
- 106. Musaiger, A. O., and S. S. Miladi, eds. 1997. "Proceedings of Workshop on Prevention and Control of Micronutrient Deficiencies in the Arab Gulf Cooperation Council Countries." FAO Regional Office of the Near East, Cairo.
- 107.Musaiger, A. O., and S. S. Miladi, eds. 1997. "The State of Food and Nutrition in the Near East Countries." FAO Regional Office of the Near East, Cairo.
- 108. National Population Council, RAPID IV. 1994. "A Sound Investment: The Cost-Benefit Study of Family Planning in Egypt: Summary Report." National Population Council, Cairo.
- 109. Osifo, E. 1995. "Family Planning and Fertility Issues." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 110. PAPCHILD, Ministère de la Santé et de la Population, and Office National des Statistiques. 1992. "Enquête Algerienne sur la Santé de la Mère et de l'Enfant: Rapport Principal." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.
- 111. PAPCHILD. 1994. "Arab Libyan Maternal and Child Health Survey." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.
- 112. PAPCHILD. 1995. "Maternal and Child Health Survey in the Syrian Arab Republic: Summary Report." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.
- 113. PAPCHILD. 1997. "Tunisian Maternal and Child Health Survey: Summary Report." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.

- 114. PAPCHILD. 1998. "Arab Libyan Maternal and Child Health Survey: Summary Report." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.
- 115. PAPCHILD. 1998. "Lebanon Maternal and Child Health Survey: Summary Report." PAPCHILD, League of Arab States, Cairo.
- 116. Perinatal Medicine (Syusanki Igaku) Editorial Committee. 1991. "Essentials of Perinatal Medicine (Syusanki Igaku Hissyu Chishiki)." 3rd edition. Tokyo Igaku-sha, Tokyo.
- 117. Population Council. 1996. "The Unfinished Transition." New York.
- 118. Potts, M., J. Walsh, J. McAninch, N. Mizoguchi, and T. J. Wade. 1999. "Paying for Reproductive Health Care: What Is Needed, and What Is Available?" *International Family Planning Perspectives* 25: S10–S16.
- 119. Reproductive Health for Refugees Consortium. 1998. "Refugees and Reproductive Health Care: The Next Step." Available: www.rhrc.org/globalreviews/ index.htm
- 120. Robinson, W.C., and F. H. El-Zanaty. 1995. "The Impact of Policy and Program on Fertility in Egypt: The Egyptian Family Planning Success Story." National Population Council and USAID, Cairo.
- 121. Ross, J. A., W. P. Mauldin, S. R. Green, and E. R. Cooke. 1992. "Family Planning and Child Survival Programs: As Assessed in 1991." Population Council, New York.
- 122. Ross, J., J. Stover, and A. Willard. 1999. "Profiles for Family Planning and Reproductive Health Programs: 116 Countries." Futures Group International, Glastonbury, Conn.
- 123. Ross, S. R. 1998. "Promoting Quality Maternal and Newborn Care: A Reference Manual for Program Managers." CARE, New York.
- 124. Roudi, F., and L. Ashford. 1996. "Men and Family Planning in Africa." Population Reference Bureau, Washington, D.C.
- 125. Roudi, R. N. 1995. "An Analysis of Birth Spacing in the Near East." Futures Group International, Washington, D.C.
- 126. Saghayroun, A. A. 1996. "Family Planning Movement in Yemen: Where We Stand, 1976–1996." Yemen Family Care Association, IPPF Arab World Region, Sana'a.
- 127. Salman, A. J., K. Al-Jaber, and S. Farid. 1995. "Reproductive Patterns and

Child Survival in Qatar." Gulf Child Health Survey, Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Riyadh.

- 128. Sato, T. 1997. "Situation Analysis of Women in Karak." National Population Commission and Japan International Cooperation Agency, Amman.
- 129. Shafey, H. E. 1998. "Adolescence and State Policy in Egypt." Population Council, Giza.
- 130. Shane, B. 1997. "Family Planning Saves Lives." 3rd edition. Population Reference Bureau, Washington, D.C.
- 131. Sholkamy, H. M. 1996. "Women's Health Perceptions: A Necessary Approach to an Understanding of Health and Well-Being." Population Council, Giza.
- 132. Sibley, L., and D. Armbruster. 1997. "Obstetric First Aid in the Community: Partners in Safe Motherhood. A Strategy for Reducing Maternal Mortality." *Journal of Nurse-Midwifery* 42: 117–121.
- 133. Sidhom, Y., Z. Khairullah, A. Shrestha, and R. Timmons. 1997. "Final Project Review: Report of PRIME Project Support to the Oman Birth Spacing Program from June 1995 to June 1997." INTRAH/PRIME, USAID contractor report, Chapel Hill, N.C.
- 134. Smith, J. 1995. "Visions and Discussions on Genital Mutilation of Girls: An International Survey." Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands and Defense for Children International, The Hague.
- 135. Starrs, A. 1997. "The Safe Motherhood Action Agenda: Priorities for the Next Decade." Inter-Agency Group for Safe Motherhood, Colombo.
- 136. Sulaiman, A. J. M., A. Al-Riyami, and S. Farid, eds. 1996. "Oman Family Health Survey 1995: Preliminary Report." Ministry of Health and Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Muscat.
- 137. Sullivan, R. S. 1995. "The Competency-Based Approach to Training." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- 138. Sullivan, R. S., and T. Smith. 1996. "On-the-Job Training for Family Planning Service Providers." JHPIEGO Corporation, Baltimore.
- 139. Tawilah, J. 1997. "UNAIDS Travel Report Summary: Yemen." UNAIDS, Alexandria.
- 140. Tawilah, J., and M. Farza. 1998. "UNAIDS Travel Report Summary: Iran." UNAIDS, Alexandria.

- 141. Tawilah, J. 1998. "UNAIDS Travel Report Summary: Jordan." UNAIDS, Alexandria.
- 142. Tawilah, J. 1998. "HIV/AIDS High Risk Group in Lebanon." UNAIDS, Alexandria.
- 143. Tawilah, J. 1998. "Debriefing for the U.N. Theme Group." UNAIDS, Alexandria.
- 144. Tinker, A., and M. A. Koblinsky. 1993. "Making Motherhood Safe." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 145. Tinker, A., T. Merrick, and A. Adeyi. 1995. "Improving Reproductive Health: The Role of The World Bank." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 146. U.N. General Assembly. 1948. Universal Declaration of Human Rights. New York.
- 147. United Nations. 1994. "Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development." In *Report of the International Conference on Population and Development, Cairo, 5–13 September 1994.* New York.
- 148. U.N. Population Division. 1995. "World Abortion Policies, 1994." U.N. Population Information Network, New York.
- 149. United Nations. 1997. "Arab Women 1995: Trends, Statistics and Indicators." New York.
- 150. United Nations. 1999. Demographic Yearbook 1997. New York.
- 151. UNAIDS. 1998. "Gender and HIV/AIDS: UNAIDS Technical Update." New York.
- 152. UNAIDS. 1998. "Project Proposal: HIV Prevention for Youth in Jordan." New York.
- 153. UNAIDS. 1998. "UNAIDS Progress Report 1996-1997." New York.
- 154. UNAIDS and WHO. 1998. "A Global View of HIV Infection: More than 29 Million Adults Living with HIV/AIDS as of End 1997." Geneva.
- 155. UNAIDS, WHO, and CTD. 1998. *Report 1998*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- 156. UNDP. 1996. Human Development Report 1996. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 157. UNDP. 1997. Human Development Report 1997. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 158. UNDP. 1998. *Human Development Report 1998*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 159. UNFPA. 1997. "Programme Review and Strategy Development Report: Jordan." Draft. New York.
- 160. UNICEF. 1988. The State of the World's Children 1988. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 161. UNICEF. 1991. *The State of the World's Children 1991*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 162. UNICEF. 1992. The State of the World's Children 1992. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 163. UNICEF. 1994. *The State of the World's Children 1994*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 164. UNICEF. 1997. *The State of the World's Children 1997*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 165. UNICEF. 1998. The State of the World's Children 1998. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 166. UNICEF. 1999. *The State of the World's Children 1999*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 167. UNICEF and Ministry of Health. 1990. "The Situation Analysis of Children and Women in Iran." UNICEF, Teheran.
- 168. UNICEF. 1993. "The Health and Nutrition of Women and Children in the Republic of Yemen." UNICEF, Sana'a.
- 169. UNICEF and Ministry of Development. 1995. "Situation Analysis of Children and Women in the Sultanate of Oman." UNICEF, Muscat.
- 170. UNICEF. 1996. "Situation Analysis of Children in Libya." UNICEF, Tripoli.

- 171. UNICEF and Ministry of Health. 1996. "Situation Analysis of Children and Women in Syria." UNICEF, Damascus.
- 172. UNICEF. 1997. "The Situation of Palestinian Children and Women in the West Bank and Gaza Strip." UNICEF, Jerusalem.
- 173. UNICEF, WHO, and UNFPA. 1997. "Guidelines for Monitoring the Availability and Use of Obstetric Services." UNICEF, New York.
- 174. UNICEF and the World Bank. 1998. "The Situation of Women and Children in the Republic of Yemen." UNICEF and the World Bank, Sana'a.
- 175. USAID. 1991. "HEALTHCOM Project in Jordan." DAC Evaluation Group, OECD, Paris.
- 176. USAID. 1991. "Project Assistance Completion Report: Population and Family Planning Support Project Phase III." DAC Evaluation Group, OECD, Paris.
- 177. USAID. 1992. "Child Survival in Urban and Rural Jordan: A Component of the Primary Health Care Nursing Development Project." DAC Evaluation Group, OECD, Paris.
- 178. USAID. 1993. "Final Evaluation of the Clinical Services Improvement Subproject of the Egyptian Family Planning Association under the Population/ Family Planning II Project." DAC Evaluation Group, OECD, Paris.
- 179. USAID. 1993. "Final Evaluation of the Family Planning System Development Subproject of the Ministry of Health under the Egypt Population/ Family Planning II Project." DAC Evaluation Group, OECD, Paris.
- 180. USAID. 1996. "Reproductive Health Programs Supported by USAID: A Progress Report on Implementing the Cairo Program Action." Washington, D.C.
- 181. USAID. 1998. "Egypt Bilateral Population/Family Planning III Project (1994–98): Results, Challenges and Opportunities." Washington, D.C.
- 182. Verster, A., and J. C. Van Der Pols. 1995. "Anaemia in the Eastern Mediterranean Region." *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal* 1: 64–79.
- 183. Watson, F. 1996. "Situation Analysis on Nutrition in Gaza and the West Bank." WHO, Geneva.
- 184. WHO Technical Working Group. 1986. "Essential Obstetric Functions at First Referral Level." WHO, Geneva.

- 185. WHO, Maternal Health and Safe Motherhood Program/Nutrition Program. 1992. "The Prevalence of Anaemia in Women: A Tabulation of Available Information." WHO, Geneva.
- 186. WHO, Micronutrient Deficiency Information System. 1993. "Global Prevalence of Iodine Deficiency Disorders." MDIS Working Paper 1. WHO, Geneva.
- 187. WHO. 1995. "Female Genital Mutilation: Report of a WHO Technical Working Group." Geneva.
- 188. WHO, Family and Reproductive Health. 1996. "Female Genital Mutilation: Information Kit." WHO, Geneva.
- 189. WHO. 1996. "The Health Conditions of the Population in Iraq since the Gulf Crisis." Geneva.
- 190. WHO. 1996. "New Estimates of Maternal Mortality." *Weekly Epidemiological Record* 71: 97–100.
- 191. WHO, Family and Reproductive Health. 1997. "Coverage of Maternity Care: A Listing of Available Information." WHO, Geneva.
- 192. WHO, Division of Reproductive Health. 1997. Mother-Baby Package Reproductive Health Costing Workbook. WHO, Geneva.
- 193. WHO and the World Bank. 1997. "Maternal Health around the World." WHO, Geneva.
- 194. WHO. 1998. "Recommendations on the Safe and Effective Use of Short-Course ZDV for Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV." Weekly Epidemiological Record 73: 313–320.
- 195. WHO. 1998. "Female Genital Mutilation." Geneva.
- 196. WHO, Division of Reproductive Health. 1998. "Unsafe Abortion: Global and Regional Estimates of Incidence of and Mortality due to Unsafe Abortion with a Listing of Available Country Data." WHO, Geneva.
- 197. WHO, Division of Non-Communicable Diseases, Programme of Nutrition, Family and Reproductive Health. 1998. "Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic: Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity." WHO, Geneva.
- 198. WHO. 1998. "WHO Initiative on HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Infections." Geneva.

- 199.WHO and UNICEF. "Joint WHO/UNICEF Commentary on Health Pre-Sessional Working Group on the Initial State Party Report of Iraq Committee on the Rights of the Child." WHO and UNICEF, Geneva.
- 200. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1988. "Guidelines for a National Programme for the Control of Iodine Deficiency Disorders in the Eastern Mediterranean Region." Alexandria.
- 201. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1995. "Cancer Control in the Eastern Mediterranean Region." Alexandria.
- 202. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1998. "Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) in the Eastern Mediterranean Region." Alexandria.
- 203. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1998. "Control of Sexually Transmitted Diseases." Alexandria.
- 204. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1997. "Demographic and Health Indicators for Countries of the Eastern Mediterranean 1997." Alexandria.
- 205. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1998. *EMR AIDS News:* A Quarterly Newsletter on STD and AIDS 2 (2). Alexandria.
- 206. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1998. "Guidelines for Conducting an Assessment of the Prevalence of Sexually Transmitted Diseases in Women Attending Antenatal and Gynaecology Clinics." Alexandria.
- 207. WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. 1998. "A Practical Guide to Case Management of Sexually Transmitted Diseases for Health Care Personnel." Alexandria.
- 208. World Bank. 1984. "Tunisia: First Population Project: Project Performance Audit Report." Washington, D.C.
- 209. World Bank. 1984. "Egypt: Second Population Project: Project Completion Report." Washington, D.C.
- 210. World Bank. 1990. "Morocco: Health Sector Investment Loan Project: Staff Appraisal Report." Washington, D.C.
- 211. World Bank. 1990. "Tunisia: Health and Population Project: Project Completion Report." Washington, D.C.

- 212. World Bank. 1990. "Yemen Arab Republic: Health Sector Development Project: Staff Appraisal Report." Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. 1993. World Development Report 1993. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 214. World Bank. 1993. "Effective Family Planning Programs." Washington, D.C.
- 215. World Bank. 1994. "A New Agenda for Women's Health and Nutrition." Washington, D.C.
- 216. World Bank. 1994. "Population and Development: Implications for the World Bank." Washington, D.C.
- 217. World Bank. 1996. "Improving Women's Health in India." Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. 1996. "Morocco: Basic Health Project: Memorandum and Recommendation of the President." Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. 1996. "Tunisia: Health and Population Project: Project Performance Audit Report." Washington, D.C.
- 220. World Bank. 1997. "Hashimite Kingdom of Jordan: Health Sector Study." Washington, D.C.
- 221. World Bank. 1997. "Health, Nutrition and Population in Middle East and North Africa Region." Draft. Washington, D.C.
- 222. World Bank. 1997. "Republic of Yemen: Enhancing Policy Options: A Population Sector Study." Washington, D.C.
- 223. World Bank. 1997. "United Arab Emirates: Comprehensive Health Sector Study: Working Papers." Washington, D.C.
- 224. World Bank, Human Development Network. 1997. "Sector Strategy: Health, Nutrition, and Population." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 225. World Bank. 1997. "West Bank and Gaza: Education and Health Rehabilitation Project Midterm Review Mission: Quality Improvement Program Assessment Report." Washington, D.C.
- 226. World Bank. 1997. "West Bank and Gaza: Medium Term Development Strategy and Public Financing Priorities for the Health Sector." Washington, D.C.
- 227. World Bank. 1998. "Arab Republic of Egypt: Health Sector Reform Program: Project Appraisal Document." Washington, D.C.

- 228. World Bank. 1998. "Republic of Tunisia: Population and Family Health Project: Implementation Completion Report." Washington, D.C.
- 229. World Bank. 1998. "Republic of Yemen: Child Development Project: Project Appraisal Document." Washington, D.C.
- 230. World Bank. 1998. "World Development Indicators 1998." Washington, D.C.
- 231. World Bank. 1998. World Development Report 1998. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 232. World Bank. 1999. "Safe Motherhood and the World Bank: Lessons from Ten Years of Experience." Draft. Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. 1999. "World Development Indicators 1999." Draft. Washington, D.C.
- 234. World Bank. 2000. "Population and the World Bank: Adapting to Change." Washington, D.C.
- 235. Worzala, C. 1994. "The Demographic Dimensions of Poverty in Jordan." World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 236. Yacoub, I., T. Naseeb, and S. Farid, eds. 1996. "Bahrain Family Health Survey 1995: Preliminary Report." Ministry of Health and Council of Health Ministers of GCC States, Manama.
- 237. Younis, N., K. Khalil, H. Zurayk, and H. Khattab. 1994. "Learning About Gynecological Health of Women." Policy Series in Reproductive Health, no. 2. Population Council, Cairo.
- 238. Zink, C., ed. 1988. *Dictionary of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. New York: Walter de Gruyter.
- Zurayk, H. 1994. "Women's Reproductive Health in the Arab World." Population Council, Cairo.
- 240. Zurayk, H., N. Younis, and H. Khattab. 1994. "Rethinking Family Planning Policy in Light of Reproductive Health Research." Policy Series in Reproductive Health, no. 1. Population Council, Cairo.